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P R O C E E D I N G S
MADAM PRESIDENT:
Good morning.  The Court is in session now. 

Prosecution and the Defence is the same as before? 

MR. NG'ARUA:
May it please the Court, the appearance for the Prosecutor is as before.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
For the Defence? 

MR. GAUDREAU:
It is the same thing for the Defence, Madam President.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Thank you.  Today we are sitting under Rule 15 bis, as Judge Muthoga is out of town. 

Good morning, Mr. Witness.  Can you hear me?  You are not a protected witness.

THE WITNESS:
I can hear you very well. 
MADAM PRESIDENT:
Yes, Mr. Koshopa, please swear in the witness. 

MR. KOSHOPA:
Madam President, the witness was sworn in yesterday. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Okay, Prosecutor, proceed please.  You have the floor for the evidence-in-chief. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Thank you, My Lords.  Thank you, My Lords.

ISAIE SAGAHUTU MURASHI,

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF (continued)
BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Mr. Witness, may I take this opportunity to welcome you back and to wish you best in your health.   How are you feeling today?

A.
Thank you, Mr. Prosecutor.  I feel better this morning.

Q.
Thank you.  Our prayers have been answered, and I think we will proceed today with our business. 

Mr. Murashi, have you had time to reflect back to the testimony and to the statements that you gave to the Prosecutor in 1998?

A.
Yes, Mr. Prosecutor, I've had the time.  I have re-read all the statements that I gave.  I have read them carefully and slowly.  I re-read the testimony that I gave during my questioning. 

Q.
Thank you.  Now, with respect to the statement of May 1998, did you see any discrepancies or did you find that the statement was entirely --

MR. GAUDREAU:
Just a moment, if you please, Mr. Prosecutor. 

Madam President, the interpreters are indicating that the stenographers are not understanding the translation.  They do not understand the witness.  They cannot hear the witness, so it's a technical problem. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Is there still a technical problem with the interpreters? 

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
Hello, hello, hello. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
It's okay?  

Yes, Mr. Ng'arua, please continue.

MR. NG'ARUA:
Thank you, Madam President. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Mr. Murashi, we were speaking about the statement you gave in 1998. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
May it please the Court, may I give the witness the statement of May 1998 for ease of reference? 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
May of 1998? 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes.

MR. MORRISON:
On what basis is this being done, please?  The evidence of the witness should come from his testimony in the witness box.  This is not an agreed statement.
MR. NG'ARUA:
I'll lay it down.  I think I should lay down the basis first. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Mr. Murashi, after reading your testimony or your statement of 1998, what did you find?

A.
Mr. Prosecutor, could you repeat your question, because I didn't understand it.
Q.
Mr. Murashi, have you read through your statement of 1998, May 1998?

A.
Yes, I read it, I re-read it.

Q.
Has it been recorded correctly in all respects?

A.
It was recorded accurately in all respects, except for a few details, a few errors which are not very serious.  Otherwise, the statement is accurate.

Q.
Do you recall the errors that you say are minor in that statement?

A.
I remember, for example, my signature in some places.  I made two statements.  You have the statement of 1996 and the statement of 1998.  In one of the statements, I made an abbreviated signature; that is, I initialled it.  And I don't remember, but I think on the other one there was a full signature.  And I think that there is no agreement between these statements.  Also, there are a few dates and names which were not clearly written.  That's all I remember.  I cannot give any more details, but perhaps if you pointed them out, I would be able to give you the details.  But those are the sort of errors that I found out.  But the substance of the statements is correct.

Q.
Did the investigator in 199 -- in the interview of 1998, ask of you questions with respect to membership of any organisation or social group?

A.
Yes, that is correct.  That's one of the mistakes, too.  I said -- I said no -- actually, they wrote no, whereas I stated that I was a member of the PL party.  I was an ambassador for the PL party.

Q.
Hold on.  I think the transcribers are indicating a problem.
MR. NG’ARUA:
That has been resolved?  Is it okay?  

Thank you, My Lord. 

My Lord, for the benefit of the Defence counsel and fair play, I'm referring to item No. 13 on page 2 of the statement of 1998. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
What did you say, "item"? 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Thirteen, No. 13.  That is the introductory identification of the witness.  Number 13, where it says, "member of social or political association".  May I proceed? 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Yes.

MR. NG'ARUA:
I just wish to point out to my colleagues on the other side that the entry No. 13 as indicated in the statement is wrong and it should read as the witness has said now.  Thank you.  That is all that I wish to do upon that.

JUDGE SHORT:
Could you repeat what the witness said the answer to No. 13 should be? 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Witness, what is the correct answer to the question:  What was the member -- what was your membership of any social or political association at the time of interview?

MR. NG'ARUA:
There is a technical problem.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
There seems to be a technical problem.

MR. NG'ARUA: 
May I repeat the question?

THE WITNESS:
I did hear the question.  I said that there was a mistake in taking down my belonging to a political party.  It is written "no", whereas I belonged to the Liberal Party.  I was an ambassador as a member of the Liberal Party.  So there is an error in the transcription.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, what do you mean by "ambassador of PL party"? 

THE WITNESS:
When I was giving my statement, the investigators found me in Kampala, where I was a Rwandan ambassador, and I had been appointed ambassador as a member of the Liberal Party under the Arusha Peace Accords.  That is based on power sharing between the political parties.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Thank you. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Thank you.  And did the investigators enquire from you what your occupation was in April '94?

A.
I do not remember correctly, but I believe I gave my biography and details of my career.

Q.
Thank you.  Mr. Witness, I want to ask you questions about your background information at this part of the examination-in-chief.  Can you tell Their Lordships your full names and where and when you were born?

A.
Thank you.  I am called Mr. Murashi Sagahutu, Isaie.  I was born in 1949 in Nyaruteme, Mutura commune, Gisenyi préfecture or province.

Q.
And what were your parents' ethnicity? 

A.
My parents are of the Tutsi ethnic group.

Q.
And can you tell the Court what was your career development from that time up to 1994?

JUDGE SHORT:
From what time? 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
From when you went to school to 1994.
A.
I went to primary school in my commune of origin in Busasamana parish.  After that, political events stopped my primary education in 1960 in Busasamana.  And I left with my parents, and the Belgian authorities took us in Nyundo.  Nyundo is today in Kanama commune, which is neighbouring Mutura commune.  And there I continued my primary education.  But my parents went to Nyamata; that is, taken there by the Belgian authorities.  I remained in the primary school in Nyundo.  I went afterwards to the small Nyundo seminary.  

After that, after finishing the seminary, I went into exile to join my parents, who in the meantime had left Nyamata, for Burundi, because my father had nearly been killed in 1964.  So I joined them in Burundi, where I attended Bujumbura University.  I attended the University of Bujumbura for two years, and after that I went to Lubumbashi in Zaire, where I finished my university studies in the faculty of letters.  I obtained a degree in history, Bachelor's degree in history.  I went back to Burundi, where I was a teacher, and then I left Burundi.  I was already married at that time.  

I went to Congo, where I spent only two years, and I went back to Rwanda because of the economic crisis in Congo.  I went back to Nyundo, a place that was familiar to me, and I found work there as a secondary school teacher in Notre-Dame d'Afrique girls secondary school, and that was in 1986.  And in 1990, when the war began, I was still a teacher in this Nyundo girls' secondary school.  The genocide found me there.  My wife and children were killed.  I barely escaped with my life.

Q.
Thank you, Witness.  At this juncture, I would request of you to tell us how many children did you have out of the marriage you have spoken about.

A.
I had four children:  three daughters and one son. 

Q.
How old was your eldest child in 1994?

A.
In 1994 she was 17 years old -- or he was 17 years old.

Q.
Was it a girl or a boy who was --

A.
It was a girl.

Q.
And how old was the youngest of your children at that time?

A.
I do not remember, but I think the youngest was nine or ten years old.  I don't remember well.  I 
don't -- I don't like to remember because the last time when I gave testimony, when I'm -- I don't like to talk about my family.  I don't really like it when they put questions to me about that.  It hurts me. 

Q.
I understand, and it's with great sympathy and sensitivity, but you see, the record has to be complete.  We will not dwell deeply into that; it's just for purposes of completeness.  So your eldest was 17 and the youngest was about 10.  We'll leave it at that.

MR. MORRISON:
Excuse me, if it assists this witness, if my learned friend wishes to reduce in writing the information that he's obtaining from this witness as to his family and the circumstances, I'm sure that can be agreed by the Defence without the necessity of this witness being traumatised by having to recall events he would rather forget.

MR. NG'ARUA:
That is very welcome, Mr. Morrison.  I think that's what we'll do; when we reach certain parts that are extremely traumatising, then we can make an arrangement from there so that it is less of a burden. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Now, do you recall, Mr. Mr. Murashi, the events around 1993?  When you were a teacher at Nyundo high school, what were the political overtones at that time?

A.
In 1993, 1993 was a period of alternating tension and relative calm because from the time when the war broke out between the RPF and the Habyarimana government in 1990, a group of Tutsis was the target of persecution, systematic searches, imprisonment, looting and killing.  So there was tension alternating with calm.  That was the same thing in 1993.  But due to the Arusha peace negotiations and the subsequent arrival of UNAMIR, people hoped that peace would come soon.  


But at the same time, there was continuous disturbances or worries because there were rumours; there were even things written supporting Kangura -- sorry, that is in the Kangura newspaper and in RTLM radio.  And at the same time, Interahamwe groups were carrying out demonstrations, and we were told at the time that, one day, we would be killed, that war would break out.  There was no talk of genocide, but it was being said that war would break out and we would be killed.

Q.
Mr. Witness, how did these tensions translate themselves at your place of work, or did they translate themselves at your place of work?

A.
Tension could be felt in the schools, in the schools of the area.  There was no peace between the pupils and students.  There was no peace between the teachers.  There were persistent threats.  And even in the primary schools, our children told us that their fellow pupils told them innocently that they were to be careful because meetings were being held and the authorities were telling their parents that one day the Tutsis would be killed, exterminated.  So in the milieu where I lived, there was constant tension.  And as I told you, we had been looted more than twice and sometimes there were barricades on the roads.  

There were people who were going about with traditional weapons and who issued threats.  Sometimes they were present on earth roads.  And it was said that all the Tutsis are accomplices of the Inyenzi, the RPF, and that they deserved to die.

Q.
Now tell me, tell the Court, who issued these threats.
A.
The threats were made by a number of people.  At the beginning, it was the young people, and then our fellow teachers as well joined in, who would tell us at the beginning.  And then later, it was an organised system and the Interahamwe came in.  We were being told that there were spontaneous activists, but then it came to light that they were being organised by the authorities.

Q.
Mr. Murashi, when you say that a number of people made these threats, was there an ethnic overtone to these threats, and if so, how?

A.
Yes, that is correct, there was an ethnic overtone, given that you will recall that Rwanda, since 1959, did have an ethnic-based power base.  Since the exit of the Belgians in 1959 this was under the direction of the PARMEHUTU party, which was an ethnic group and which excluded Tutsis, deprived them of their rights and political organisations -- and in political organisations, Tutsis had no access to posts.  

Under Habyarimana's regime, the same system prevailed, and on a much more serious note, under the guise of ethnic balancing and regional balancing that now promoted the exclusion of Tutsis from political power.  When the war broke out, this led to demonstrations and for people to demonstrate their hostility against the Tutsis.  They were portrayed as enemies who threatened the power that -- a group that had been in power since 1959.

Q.
Mr. Murashi, you have referred to a war.  What war was this that broke out?  When did it break out?  Who were the parties?

A.
The war broke out on the 1st of October 1990 and it involved the RPF, the Inkotanyi, who were refugees outside the country and had been so since 1959, and they were working with Hutus who had always been excluded from the system and who wanted to fight back against the dictatorial regime of Habyarimana.  It was a tribalist and regionalist regime.

Q.
Now, you say that after the war, the Interahamwe were also active.  Who were these Interahamwe people and how were they active during the period you are speaking of?

A.
The Interahamwe are a militia group -- or were a militia group, and they had been created by the governing group; that is, the MRND party.  That was the party in power.  And this militia had -- it's purpose was to promote self-defence -- civil defence, sorry, and to support the army in killing the enemy in the country, that is the Tutsis and other Hutus, all Tutsis and those Hutu who did not share Habyarimana's ideas -- ideology; that is all Tutsis, with no discrimination, and all opposition Hutus.  And this group was formed by the MRND, as I said.  They were affiliated with the MRND party. 

Q.
Tell the Court how did you get knowledge of the relationship between the Interahamwe and MRND.  Can you explain to the Court, for their knowledge?

A.
The Interahamwe militia was not created as soon as the war broke out.  It was formed during the course of the war as Habyarimana sought to finalise his killing methodology and to finish off his enemies.  So this group was formed -- I do not quite recall the date.  It could be towards the end of 1992 or 1991.  But this group was formed by Habyarimana and his group that was known as Akazu.  

Akazu was a group of people, the inner circle of Habyarimana.  These people came from the same commune as he did and they were his supporters.  They included "Z", a person known as "Z"; that is Zigiranyirazo, Colonel Serubuga, Colonel Bagosora, Colonel Sagatwa, Colonel Buregeya.  So that was the core of the group.  

And as I recall it, the Interahamwe group was created under the advice of Mr. Banzi, Wellars.  
Banzi, Wellars was a former member of parliament in Gisenyi préfecture who was a fervent supporter of the MDR, and since 1959.  So it is this Banzi who represented MDR-PARMEHUTU in Gisenyi and who played a very pivotal role in the expulsion of Tutsis in the province and who fomented unrest in the province.  At one point he fell into disgrace when the MDR began.  And then -- can I just finish off?  

And then Banzi is the one who came up with the idea and who informed the president.  Militias were to be formed throughout the country to help in civil defence in killing the Tutsis and opposition Hutus.  So Banzi gave this idea to Zigiranyirazo and Habyarimana.  And I know this because I come from Gisenyi and because Banzi -- or sorry, Zigiranyirazo had a connection with one of my cousins who was a friend of his.

Q.
Thank you.  Tell the Court, Mr. Murashi, how Habyarimana's government was ethnic and regionalist.  How did you experience it from your station in Nyundo in Gisenyi?

MR. MORRISON:
Sorry to interrupt.  Can we have a time scale on these matters, please? 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes.  In 1993 and '94. 

THE WITNESS:
Madam President, I cannot explain without giving a background on the history of regionalism and ethnicism.  Habyarimana's regime was by definition a regionalist and ethnic regime because when Habyarimana carried out the coup d'état against Kayibanda, he called for ethnic and regional equilibrium so it was official.  And in the system we had quotas, ethnic quotas, in all aspects of the political system.  So this equilibrium was maintained throughout the system.  

But in reality, it promoted exclusion because, for instance, you would not find a single Tutsi in the army.  There was no Tutsi -- there was one officer called Ruhashya.  This would confirm further the exclusion.  There was just one minister; that is the exception to the rule because Habyarimana wanted to rub it in -- or to hide it, rather.  There was no préfet, there was no official at local level who was a Tutsi.  So in the same way the regional balance in areas like Ruhengeri and Gisenyi -- and then it got worse as the years went by because Habyarimana found that even those in Ruhengeri were opposed to his system, and that is how he began to suspect and to exclude his supporter in the 

coup d'état, Colonel Kanyarengwe.  And in Gisenyi province, my region, Mutura commune, Kanama commune, he began to exclude people.  Even prison officials such as Colonel Bugesera, 

Colonel Stanislas Biseruka and Major Lizinde -- excuse me? 

Q.
This is a small housekeeping matter.  When you mention Kinyarwanda names, please give a pause so that we can either assist the court stenographers with the list that we have and, if possible, so that we can spell it out. 

Now, you have said one name of Colonel Bugesera.  Can you just pause there, and we'll show the rest of the trial where we are. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
That is No. 16 on the list of nouns, My Lord. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
You said he was the prison -- Colonel Bugesera was in charge of the prison in Gisenyi; is that correct?

A.
Bugesera, no.  No, I actually said that in this system of regional exclusion, first of all, he excluded the people from the south, then those from Ruhengeri, then those from Gisenyi commune including 
Major Lizinde.  That's L-I-Z-I-N-E, (sic) Lizinde.  And then Major Biseruka; that is spelled 
B-I-S-E-R-U-K-A, Biseruka, Stanislas.  They were imprisoned because they were accused of having tried to stage a coup d'état.  So he wanted to concentrate power of the Akazu group, this small group of people who came from his commune and who came particularly from Rambura parish, 
R-A-M-B-U-R-A.  And this commune, the commune is Karago, K-A-R-J-O (sic), Giciye, G-I-C-I-Y-E. 

So after Kanyarengwe’s imprisonment, Lizinde, Biseruka, and even another whose name was Nduhirabandi -- Nduhirabandi is spelled N-D-U-H-I-R-A-B-A-N-D-I.  So, basically, these are the people who came from the neighbouring communes from his region, and he reinforced his group.  And this actually led to weakening of his power base because he was seen as a person who is supposed to be the president, the father of the nation, but who is closing ranks with his own people, people from a very small group.  And this led to unease and which facilitated the war, and the RPF was able to benefit from support.  

So that when the war broke out in this climate of tension caused by the regionalism and ethnicism, he was able to play this card to persecute all the Tutsis.  But then the situation had degenerated to such an extent that even to the people in the -- outside of the south were able -- were supportive of expelling him. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Madam President, I believe there is a problem.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
I believe there is some problem with the court reporters.  

Mr. Witness, can you speak a bit slowly because I think the interpreters are unable to follow you. 

THE WITNESS:
Madam President, thank you.  I'm sorry, I always speak fast.  Even when I have testified elsewhere, I have often been told that I should slow down.  And I'll try and remember in the correct sequence.  I do remember, but after some time -- I try and remind myself of it, but sometimes my speech just quickens.
 MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness -- Mr. Prosecutor, is this the list of proper nouns? 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, My Lord. 

Mr. Koshopa, have you given this list to the court reporters?  They have the list?  Okay, thank you. 

MR. GAUDREAU:
Excuse me, Madam President, is it not possible to have the same list that has been given to the stenographers to make it available to us as well? 

MR. NG'ARUA:
I believe the list was distributed, but we can still spare up some more. 
MADAM PRESIDENT:
Yes, Mr. Ng'arua, please proceed. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Mr. Murashi, as the president reminded you, please try and be a bit slower in your speech.  We know you have a lot to say.  We will give you  enough time for that. 

Tell the Court, at your own institution where you were working, how was this ethnic balancing applied at your institution?

A.
Thank you, Mr. Prosecutor.  I'm sorry about my speed.  Please continue to remind me.  And since I'm talking about things I'm very well acquainted with, it's not easy to slow down. 

In regard to your question, the ethnic quota system did not only prevail in my establishment, it was all over.  In the  primary schools, I'm talking about the first year of primary school, as children presented themselves, the first thing that was registered or noted was the ethnic identity.  The teachers would ask the children to separate into ethnic -- according to their ethnic groups.  That is for children.  Some would cry; others would go home crying to their parents, "Am I really Tutsi?  It seems to be a bad thing to be Tutsi."  My children went through that.  

At secondary school level, the ethnic quotas were operated by the ministry, and in the midst of all this no school could admit pupils.  It was all effected from the ministry level because it involved identity cards.  The commune had to investigate so the children had to come up with certificates from the administrative authorities showing their identities.  So the ethnic balancing was effected at ministry level, not at the schools.  And as I said, it wasn't really balancing; it was more a matter of exclusion because there were no Tutsis in the schools.  

I was a teacher, for instance, but my own children had a very hard time in getting admittance or access to secondary school. 

Q.
What about your fellow teachers?  How did this system of ethnic exclusion of Tutsis apply to the employment of teachers at your school?

A.
At the professional level, in particular, as far as the teaching body was concerned, it was much more severe because there was a shortage of teachers, first of all.  Most teachers were Zaireans because the Hutu had opportunities to much more senior posts.  They did not want to teach.  They were soldiers; they were working in the administration, public administration.  They had a number of opportunities.  So that there was a shortage of teaching posts -- teachers, rather, in the schools.  And most of the teaching staff then was composed of Zaireans.  And so Tutsis also had access to this type of profession.  There were also young Hutus who would start out as teachers and we were working with them.  

And in order to prevent Tutsis from rising in the ranks, we would have to fill out forms, identity documents, documents where we would be asked to put our ethnic origin.  And we would also be asked to, in our native communes, to trace back -- how far back our parents had been living in the commune.  

And when war broke out, as I said, we were well known.  It was very easy to identify us.  And as I said, in some areas, some -- the looting and imprisonment was therefore facilitated, and also the threats which we were regularly subjected to.  We would be told, "You Tutsis, you are trying to attack our system that has been built over decades and we will make you suffer; you will pay for this.  And you know very well that in that country -- in this country, you are about 2 million Tutsis, and we will kill all of you."  And that's how these threats were made.

Q.
Tell the Court how many Tutsi teachers were there at your school, Notre-Dame d'Afrique du Nyundo?

A.
Mr. President -- Madam President, I think it would be rather difficult for me to recall that.  I need some time to recall it.  We were about 30 in all, and out of that number, we were seven or eight.  I'm estimating.

Q.
You say that --

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Seven or eight were Tutsis? 

THE WITNESS:
Yes.

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
You say that your house had been looted several times.  Can you tell us about it?  Who looted your house; do you know?

A.
The names?  You want the names of the looters? 

Q.
Who looted?  Was it an organisation or were they individuals?  Can you tell the Court about that, and their names, if you know them.

A.
Madam President, I think I clearly stated at the beginning that even before the war, the 1990 war, there was a malaise, but when the war broke out, the administrative authorities, the political and military officials, put in -- they mobilised a system for civil defence, not against the RPF outside the country but what they referred to as the internal RPF.  So they began to sensitise the authorities in local areas, who would then mobilise the unemployed youth, who later formed the Interahamwe.  So they would hold rallies and secret meetings on a regular basis. And then, in 1991, Ruhengeri city was targeted for an RPF attack, and that led to tension.  Barricades were set up.  But these were not a spontaneous activity.  They had been organised by the grass-roots authorities; that is the bourgmestre.  

And as these feelings had been fomented, that is, at the level of the unemployed youth who were also looking for the thrill and who would always take advantage of such occasions, so they were guided by the administrative officials.  And it is this youth who at that time were not yet organised as Interahamwe who came to loot our home.  They are young people that we knew.  I do not remember their names, but they were numerous; there were many of them.  And these are the people who looted our home and who threatened our children and wives, and they were at the minor seminary at Nyundo.

Q.
Witness, can you tell the Court, when you say that these youths were guided by the administration, can you elaborate how they were guided by the administration?

A.
They were directed in this sense:  that in the beginning there were meetings, and the local government authorities, particularly those referred to as conseillers and those referred to as 
chef du cellule, nyumba kumi, we were with them and they used to tell us -- they used to tell us, I recall that one of the nyumba kumi told me, "But you, teacher, why did your brothers come to attack us?  Why did your brothers come to attack us?  Don't you have peace here?  Are you not a teacher?  Don't you have a good salary?  Are you not living in a good situation?  Is your wife not a nurse?  Are your children not in a primary school?"  

And he told me, "You are going to pay for it dearly."  And it was during that period that the roadblocks were erected, and it was at that time that the looting took place.  It was during that period when there was unease, crisis.  The local authorities were going around on a pretext of preventing the looting, but they did not do anything.  Even the préfet came.  He witnessed this.  He did not prevent it.  

Because the bishop of Nyundo, Bishop Kalibushi called the préfet, and the préfet came.  He first of all said, "Well, I did not know this was happening."  He was pretending.  Then he went for the gendarmes to stop the looting.  But initially, he just took it lightly.  So, in fact, they were behind this, and we were aware of this because we were living with the people and they were telling us about all these things. 

Q.
Can you put a date to the looting of your home?

A.
The first looting -- because there were many -- the first one was in February, possibly on the 14th of February.  I can't recall clearly when it comes to such details, Madam President; you have to bear with me because it was a long time back.  I think it was February 1991.

Q.
And when did this conseiller, the nyumba kumi leader, tell you that if your brothers attacked you, you would suffer for it?  When did he tell you that?  What was the year?

A.
He told me that before the looting, before looting; that is when Ruhengeri town was attacked by the RPF.

Q.
Do you recall the date, the year, the month?

A.
Well, he told me that on several occasions, but before the looting, that was January 1991, I believe.  January 1991, I think.

Q.
Tell us something about the looting.  Did it take place in your presence?

A.
I was absent.  I had gone for classes.  This is around 1400 hours.  I left my house.  There were roadblocks, a lot of noise, and I think my children did not go to school.  They were very scared.  When I went out to go for classes, I met armed soldiers, two armed soldiers.  They had come from Bigogwe.  Bigogwe is a military camp which is located in my native commune of Mutura.  They came down with dead bodies.  I got to know this from my colleagues who were taken to be killed but who were released subsequently.  They found dead bodies in the trucks.  

When they got there -- they in fact started the looting, those soldiers.  They came down.  When they got to Nyundo, they stopped.  And they told the people who were at the roadblock, "Why are you not killing the Tutsis here?"  And they took a lot of young people; there was a noise and they came, they met me.  I had come out of the house and they were following me.  And the young boys told me that, "You are the one we are looking for.  We have been looking for you."  And I said, "Who is looking for me?"  And they said, "The soldiers."  And I said, "Well, I've seen them already."  It was a way of getting away from them.  

So I went to the school, where I didn't even go to the school.  I went to the seminary because I was between my house and the school where I was teaching at the Nyundo minor seminary.  So I took refuge there.  

Then the soldiers and the young men of the roadblock went to my house.  They found my wife and my children.  The soldiers tied up my children and they told the young men, "Go ahead and loot."  And they started looting and then -- and then they untied the children and left.
MADAM PRESIDENT:
This was in the year 1991?
THE WITNESS:
Nineteen ninety-one.  So they looted the whole house, threatened the children, and the children ran to the reverend sisters and took refuge there, as well as my wife.  My wife had been wounded by the young people, the young men, and the looters.
BY MR. NG’ARUA: 

Q.
At that time who was the préfet of Gisenyi?

A.
The préfet of Gisenyi at the time was called Côme Bizimungu, B-I-Z-I-M-U-N-G-U, Bizimungu.

Q.
And who was the sous-préfet at that time in 1991?

A.
The then sous-préfet -- there were several sous-préfets, but the most important one of them was the sous-préfet in charge of political and administrative matters who was called Raphael Bikumbi, 

B-I-K-A -- K-U -- M-U-B-I, Bikumbi. 

Q.
Who was the bourgmestre in charge of the Nyundo parish area?

A.
The then bourgmestre was called Nzabonimpa, N-Z-A-B-O-N-I-M-P-A, Anani.

MR. NG'ARUA:
That's No. 12 on the list. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Now, tell the Court, these administrators from Bizimungu to Nzabonimpa, did you know of their ethnicity and political affiliation?  Can you tell the Court?

A.
They were all members of the MRND and were Hutus.

Q.
Yes.  Tell the Court, you say that there were about 30 teachers at your school and about seven or eight of them were Tutsis.  Can you explain to the Court, around 1993 to 1994, what was the relationship?  How was the working relationship between the Hutu teachers and the Tutsi teachers at your school?

A.
I did say that when the war started there was suspicion, and threats were being made, and the Hutu teachers started -- they began joining anti-Tutsi organisations.  Before then, it was well known that a Tutsi had no rights.  It was known.  But when the war started, they started joining anti-Tutsi organisations and some of them were telling us, as I told you, that the Tutsis -- about 2 million Tutsis had been identified and they would all be killed.  

And in the schools, they started making a division among the students.  Tutsi students, out of 600, were not more than 30, and they started saying that the Tutsis (sic) will go and kill the Tutsis at night.  This was being spread by the Hutus.  There was even an article in the Kangura newspaper.  

And I remember that when the war started, sometime after that, there was this symbolic burial of Colonel Rwigima, who was the commander of the RPF.  They organised a burial, symbolic burial ceremony of him, and organised a demonstration against the RPF.  And this was being done by the teachers.

Q.
Can you tell the name of Colonel Rwigima, please, for us? 

A.
Rwigima, that is R-W-I-G-I-M-A.  He was General Fred Rwigima.

Q.
When was the mock burial and demonstration against General Rwigima held, Fred Rwigima, held? 

A.
It was early October 1990, soon after the war started.

Q.
Yes.  Witness, you are giving -- you were answering the question as to what was the relationship between the Hutu teachers and the Tutsis, and this was part of the background.  Can you please proceed from there?

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Prosecutor.

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
You asked the witness about the working relationship of the teachers --
MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
-- in between 1993 and 1994.  

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, My Lord. 

THE WITNESS:
Yes, but I already said how it started in 1990.  Now, the tension continued rising; that is to say that the more the war advanced, the more the tension and the harassment became more serious, and the more the war became serious, the greater -- the greater the radicalisation of the division and the formation of extremist militia groups and the CDR party.  Our colleague teachers joined these organisations.  Some of them were Interahamwes, some of them were CDR, and when they started distributing weapons -- this was in 1993 -- most of our colleagues were carrying weapons.  They received weapons, rifles and grenades.  They participated in secret meetings, and we were excluded, but the results were known to us.  

They attended those secret meetings to even organise the pupils because some of the Tutsi pupils joined the Interahamwe militia and they often participated in CDR demonstrations.  That was the total and absolute radicalisation during that period, and it kept on rising.  From the beginning of the war there were demonstrations.  The symbolic burial of General Fred Rwigima and then the Interahamwe militia and CDR were formed, and from that moment on the radicalisation was total.

Q.
Tell the Court, Witness, who distributed the weapons to the teachers in 1993. 

A.
It was not only to the teachers, it was a distribution to all members of the militia and all those who were considered able to kill, and the teachers were also among them.  The distribution was organised by the political and administrative authorities and military authorities as well because the area commander who was in charge of operations in Gisenyi was also the commander of the Interahamwe militia and therefore the civil defence system.  He received weapons from Kigali and would then distribute them to the militia group, to the teachers, other public servants, as well as the grass roots, local authorities, bourgmestres, communal conseillers and the nyumba kumi.  It was an entire administrative organisation.

Q.
Witness, the law is a strange thing.  I have to ask you how did you know this.  This is how I'm coming -- this is what I'm coming to:  How did you know about this distribution and the relationship between the distribution and the authorities, military, administrative and political?  Can you explain to the Court?

A.
The distribution was done in the environment in which I lived; that is the first thing.  Our colleague teachers, they were not hiding this.  After classes, they would go and attend meetings.  And we lived in the same localities.  We saw them go to those meetings.  

And then everybody in the area was not Interahamwe.  There were even people who were against it and who were giving us information and who were telling us, "You see, you are really threatened, and one day we need to give you the information that the war will actually start."  Because there was a lull; there was the Arusha Peace Accords.  "One day, there will be the war and you have to flee."  And people used to come and inform us.  They used to tell us that "So-and-so-and-so have weapons; X has weapons; Y has grenades.  We know where they hide them."  

There was the bar of one Janvier, who is in prison in Gisenyi.  There was the bar of one 

Kieze (phonetic).  There was a guesthouse and a bar -- of the tea factory of Funda (phonetic).  There was a lodging belonging to the priest which is called a Nyundo home, where these meetings were being held, and we knew that.  And since those who came from the meetings had their brothers, relatives, children, and some of them were not members of those militia groups and some of them were even against it, would come and tell us.  

And even the teachers were not hiding this because they were very sure of their organisation.  They were not hiding it.  

Then Bishop Kalibushi of Nyundo -- Bishop Kalibushi is K-A-R-L-I-B-U-S-H-I (sic), Wenceslas.  He was the Bishop of Nyundo and he lived in Nyundo, where we lived.  He was a Tutsi bishop and sympathised with us and some priests as well, Tutsi priests.  And Bishop Kalibushi was persecuted because he was considered as a protector of the Tutsis.  At that time, at the height of distribution of the weapons and tension, Bishop Kalibushi published a press release -- issued a press release.  I believe it was 28th December 1993; 28 December 1993.  He published a press release.  It still exists; you can lay hands on it and read it.  It's black on white.  And he was preaching against the distribution of weapons in some of the communes.  And after the publication of that press release, Bishop Kalibushi received a very strange visit of persons calling themselves journalists; came to him, extorted money from him and took his car. 

Q.
Now, who gave you this information about the distribution?  Can you remember some names of people or their titles and offices who gave you information that so-and-so and so-and-so had guns and grenades?  Can you recall?

A.
Well, I told you about the nyumba kumi of my neighbourhood.  You know, sometimes those people, those very people who had the weapons, would come and tell you so as to threaten you and tell you that, "We are heavily armed."  And would tell you that, "We know you the Inyenzi are armed, but we are also armed.  And we know that the Inyenzi have always been giving you weapons, and we are going to fight you."  

So it is the administrative authorities who were telling us, particularly the nyumba kumi -- I can't remember his name.  And there was a neighbour called Semahane.  Since you want to know the names, Semahane is S-E-M-A-H-A-N-I (sic).
Q.
What did Semahane tell you?

A.
And then -- sorry, you want to me to give you more names?

Q.
After you give me a name, I would like you to pause and ask you:  What did he actually tell you?  Semahane, what did he tell you?

A.
Well, he didn't tell me alone.  We were in a group of teachers.  There were some people who sympathised with us, including Semahane, and he told us that, "You people, you Tutsis, we have looted you several times; we have threatened you several times.  You take refuge in the seminary and we leave you alone, but one day we will follow you there because the situation is becoming more serious.  You should be more prudent and flee from the area.  Otherwise, you'll be killed one day.  Now there are weapons that have been distributed.  There are grenades that are being distributed.  All your colleagues have grenades weapons, and even people in the banana plantations."  

There was one -- there was one Cells (phonetic), his name was Cells, who was a notorious bandit, and he was -- he always carried weapons and dogs and he was looking for Tutsis to be killed and that you need to be informed.  There were several others.  There were some old people who lived in the area and when they see the Interahamwe buses passing by, they tell us that this is not intended to ensure peace for you.

JUDGE SHORT:
Just one second.  Mr. Witness, some of these people who gave you this information like Semahane, who you said were sympathetic to the Tutsis, were they giving you this information for your benefit, to enable you to maybe flee or protect yourself, or was this information being given to you as a threat?  In what vein was this information being conveyed to you? 

THE WITNESS:
I did say that there were two types of warnings.  There were warnings that came as a threat.  Some came from our colleagues, some came from the militia members who were boasting about it, and some of them would come out with guns and we could all see this, and some of my colleagues, after classes, they would go for their weapons and attend meetings.  We could see them.  But there were elderly persons who were more conversant with the Rwandan culture and were not members of this group, this hatred group, and were telling us this by way of sympathy.  So these were two types of warnings.

MR. NG'ARUA:
Thank you, My Lord. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Tell the Court something more about the circumstances under which Semahane told you and your group of teachers that weapons were being distributed.  Where did you meet?

A.
Well, we were all neighbours.  It's just that you don't know the environment.  Nyundo is a small environment, small area.  There are the schools, there's the parish, and then around all that there is the population, and the population normally would pass through, going from one place to the other.  They would come from the hills.  They would pass in front of our houses, the économat, to go to the market or to go drink in the bars.  They would come and pass in front of our houses for those who know the area.  So we met each other on the road.  We would greet each other, and very often they would not even stay with us.  They were afraid.  They would just greet us and continue on their way.  

And the other source which I forgot to mention is children of the primary school, the pupils of the primary school who were innocent and who, with our children, would tell them at school that, "A meeting is being held at this place; the bourgmestre came; the commander came; they held a meeting and they told my father that all the Tutsis would be killed." 

I had a little girl called Flora in the primary school.  She was told often, "Flora, tell your father to go back to Congo or Burundi," because we had come back from exile.  "Tell him to go back because he will be killed.  Meetings have been held, weapons have been distributed, grenades had been distributed; you will be killed."  It was in such circumstances.  

When Semahane was saying it, he was just saying it in passing, and very quickly.

Q.
And did Semahane say anything to you about distribution of weapons, from where were the weapons coming from?

A.
No, no details.  I told you this.  Because when people under these circumstances approached the Tutsis, it was also a sort of crime.  It was a reprehensible action for them, so they didn't dare to approach us.  And if you have some knowledge of the system, that is the system at that time, and the atmosphere in that environment, they would come and tell you or they would send somebody to tell you, "Tell my friend that they are distributing arms or weapons."  And so keep it secret.  And then they would go away very quickly.  

There was a term that was used -- or was used in the Bugoyi region.  If somebody says to you -- tells you a secret, so to speak, he will tell you very quickly and he would tell you, after that, "mundumwo". "Mundumwo", he would say, which is M-U-N-D -- N-D-U-M-W-O, mundumwo, which means "keep it to yourself".  And then he would go off very quickly.  So keep it in your heart.  “Mundumwo” is "keep it closed in your stomach."  "Mundumwo" is stomach.  Because he himself is afraid.  He knows that he himself is under threat.  You understand?  That is how news went from mouth -- from ear to mouth.  So it was another danger; it was dangerous for them to warn us.  

And there are people living up until now, today, if you ask them, "Did you say that?"  He would say, "No, I didn't say that.  I don't know this person.  I don't know this person," because they are afraid for their lives.  Because even today --

MR. NG'ARUA:
I think the sentence was broken. 

JUDGE SHORT:
He did not complete that statement.  Could I hear the rest of the statement which started with, "Even today." 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Can you repeat, maybe for the benefit of the interpreter, the sentence you were about to say that, "Even today," with respect to people not owning up to things they have said.  You say that --

A.
When I was telling you that people warned us furtively, it is because they themselves were afraid for their own lives.  You understand?  So some of these people are dead; others are still alive.  But even today, if you meet them on the road and you said, "You know Murashi?"  He would say, "No, I do not know this person," because there are court cases, there are problems.  So if he doesn't want to get into trouble, he will say, "I don't know this person.  He never even lived here."  He might even do that today.  They would say, "He never even lived here."  There are people carrying out investigations in Gisenyi, and they would ask, "Do you know this Murashi?  He was a teacher in Gisenyi."  And they would say, "We don't know him.  We have never seen him," because it might cause trouble for them.  Do you understand? 

Q.
Tell the Court:  Did you yourself see the weapons with some of your teachers and members of the population that you talked about?

A.
In any case I know that Mr. Kieze had a bar and at this place grenades were distributed.  I remember seeing a certain nurse called Fidel Nkundabanyanga.

Q.
Can you spell that, please?

A.
N-K-U-N-D-A-B-A-N-Y-A-N-G-A.  He had a gun.  And each time when we were strolling in the evening with fellow teachers, he would pass in front of us with his revolver.  He didn't hide it.  He used to go to the meetings.  I know another teacher who had a gun.  He was called Nkabibto, N-K-A-B-B – 
B-I-B-T-O.  N-K-A-B-I-B-T-O.

Q.
Yes.  And did these people have guns before 1993?

A.
No, they didn't have guns.  These guns were distributed at that time.  And it is against the distribution of these weapons that Monsignor Kalibushi protested.

Q.
Now, did you know Monsignor Kalibushi, the bishop of that parish, of Nyundo?

A.
The bishop of the diocese, you mean?  I knew him very well.  I've known him since I was a child because when I was in the primary school, he was there.  He was the general bursar of the diocese.  And when I was in the seminary also, he was the bursar of the diocese.  And when I was a teacher, he was a bishop.  This means that I know him very well.

Q.
And you say that he wrote a protest letter about the distribution of weapons.  How did you know of that?

JUDGE SHORT:
Was it a protest letter or a press release? 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Sorry, My Lord.  It was a press release. 

THE WITNESS:
I would like to clarify.  It was indeed a press release.  In my statement, it appears as a letter.  But I think that has been clarified.  I had just forgotten because of the time that has passed, but it was indeed a press release.  I did read that press release at that time; that is in 1993.

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Where did you read it?  How was it published?

A.
I read it in Nyundo itself.  It was published.  It was even broadcast on the radio.

Q.
And can you tell the Court the circumstances under which you read that letter -- sorry, that press release?

A.
This press release was given to me by a priest -- I don't remember which one -- but it was circulated in amongst the clergy, and this was the area where I worked so it was easy for me to read it.  I do not remember exactly which priest it was, but it was amongst several priests.

Q.
Thank you. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
You also said that it was broadcast on radio.  Which radio? 
THE WITNESS:
Quite so.  The national radio, Radio Rwanda.
JUDGE SHORT:
And did you indicate the paper to which this press release appeared?  

Did he give us the name of the paper?

MR. NG'ARUA:
No, he didn't, My Lord.

JUDGE SHORT:
Do you remember the name of the paper in which this press release appeared?  No? 
THE WITNESS:
I do not remember, Your Honour, Madam President, but I read it with my own eyes.  And the press release is still in existence.  You can procure yourself a copy, if you wish.

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Did you discuss the contents of that letter with Monsignor Kalibushi?

A.
No.  Mr. Kalibushi or Monsignor Kalibushi was a bishop, and there is a difference between that and a teacher, and I cannot go and ask a bishop whether we could discuss a letter or a press release with him.  I couldn't ask him that.  It was not my prerogative to take such an initiative.

Q.
Now, if you saw the said document, would you be able to recognise it?

A.
Absolutely, yes.

Q.
What was the content of that press release?

A.
I remember that the press release, in essence, described the situation of famine in some parts of Kibuye commune because Monsignor Kalibushi, who was the bishop of Nyundo diocese, which covers Kibuye and Gisenyi province -- so he was describing the famine in some of the Kibuye communes.  And he also expressed his protest against the distribution of weapons in some of the communes of his diocese.  That is the essence of the press release.  I do not remember the rest.

Q.
Did he dwell with the issue of who was distributing the weapons; do you remember?
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A.
He did not mention names in that letter.

Q.
Now, before I show you that letter, before I show you a document for you to identify, other than Semahane and the school children and what you saw, did anybody else talk to you about a distribution in weapons in Nyundo?

A.
Of course.  There were priests, in any case.  You know, priests are better placed than anyone else to be able to know about events amongst the people for the simple reason that people trust them and they go to confession to them.  So the priests knew, and I had friends who were priests.  And I had friends who were priests who told me about the distribution of weapons and who were aware about this distribution of weapons.  There was in particular, if you wish me to give you names of priests -- there was Father Nzaramba, N-Z-A-R-A-M-B-A, Aloys. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
(Overlapping microphones)
THE WITNESS:
A Tutsi.

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Can you tell the Court under what circumstances did he tell you about this?

A.
Nzaramba was a priest who was my friend.  We used to meet frequently and we talked about the development of events because we were all worried about the situation.  So I used to see him often so that we should analyse things to see whether things were developing against us, whether the threats that were uttered would be implemented, whether the Arusha Accords would protect us, whether UNAMIR would protect us in the end, and we would weigh the pros and cons.  And I used to ask him as a friend, "Do you think that I should save my family and go abroad?"  And that is when he told me, "You know, it is very alarming.  On one side, you have the Arusha Peace Accords, and on the other side you have the opposition of political parties, which were beginning to divide.  There was part of the opposition that was against Habyarimana, which was splitting off into Hutu-Power, there was a distribution of weapons, and also there was war, and there was a break on the war front."  And we analysed all these elements and he said, "There's also the radicalisation, because weapons are being distributed to the Interahamwe."  

So the priests were aware of all of that, and they would tell you, "This such-and-such a person has a weapon and some of your colleagues have weapons.  A meeting was held at such-and-such a place.  It's very dangerous but wait and see."  You see?  He even said to me at some point, "There are rumours that you will be pursued into the churches to be killed there."  

There was a conseiller who was well known for his wickedness.  His name was Kabiligi – 
K-A-B-I-L-I-G-I, Kabiligi -- and did he not live far from the parish, and he lived along the road.  He was the conseiller of Rubavu commune, which is R-A-U-B-A-V-U (sic), and it was in Muhira secteur.  Muhira is M-U-H-I-R-A.  So this conseiller, he was particularly well-known for his very active participation in Tutsi persecution activities.  He was working together with sous-préfet Bikumbi, the administrative and political authorities of Gisenyi, and he distributed weapons.  So this priest said to me, "This Mr. Kabiligi -- at Mr. Kabiligi's house, weapons are being distributed.  And there were these bandits, night robbers, (interpretation unintelligible), he has a weapon, he has a gun, and he goes around at night with his dogs.  All your colleagues are armed to the teeth, and we wonder what this will all bring.  But let's hope that with UNAMIR, with the Arusha Peace Accords, with the international community, none of this will happen." 

Q.
When did he tell you this?

A.
It was at the time when the press release was issued, so this is December 1993.  It was not only on that occasion that he told me.  He told me this several times when we met to analyse events.

Q.
And you say that he told you about the politisation (sic) of Hutu-Power.  What was this Hutu-Power?

A.
Madam President, I'm sure this is not the first time that you are hearing of this, the existence of 
Hutu-Power.  Hutu-Power was a movement of opposition political parties, which, at a certain time, joined MDR --

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
Sorry, I meant MRND, corrects the interpreter.

THE WITNESS:
-- and the Interahamwe militia.  I'll give you more detail.  I told you about the war, or rather, the ethnic origin balance policy, and at a certain time, the power, the government in power, was working with Akazu; that is, the Hutu group of President Habyarimana.  At some point in time, Rwanda was completely under the oligarchic dictatorship of this power, and most people in Rwanda were sick of this system.  And in particular, the people of the south, people of the centre and people of the east of Rwanda, they were thoroughly sick of this system.  When the war between the RPF and the Habyarimana government broke out, for many people it was a relief, and they thought, "Okay, this is the end of this dictatorship."  And there was strong pressure that was brought to bear so that the single party would give way to multiparty politics.  

And in the end, this pressure that was brought to bear had some effect, and political parties were created, opposition political parties; in particular, the MDR, which was revived.  It existed before, but it was resurrected.  And there were several other parties formed, in particular, PSD, Social Democratic Party or Parti social démocrat and the Liberal Party, PL.  Those were the most important of the parties.  There was also the PDC and small political parties.  There was also the PDI, which is the Islamic Democratic Party, Parti démocrat islamique.  These parties were the opposition, which seriously destabilised the regime of President Habyarimana and the president of the MRND.  

And along with the war in the frontier, the political parties really shook up President Habyarimana through rallies, very big rallies, well attended.  In several préfectures in Kigali and elsewhere, by releases, discussions on the radio, announcements, Habyarimana's power had a tough time of it.  And then at one point -- and this happened very quickly.  I think this was the end of 1993 -- the parties split in two very quickly, and it is said that this was President Habyarimana's doing.  He is said to have been the puppet master, and he had his party split into two.  And then came the Hutu-Power, and this was first declared, first by the Parmahutu, which said, "Long live Hutu Power."  So the Hutus should separate and everyone should be on his own side, and that is how Hutu-Power was formed.  

All the parties, the PL and the MRND, the PSD, split into two. 

Q.
Thank you, Witness.  The question is, Father Aloys Nzaramba, what did he tell about the Hutu-Power?

A.
He told me that it was one of the dangers to the future of the country, and he said -- you know, he analysed the developments in the situation and said, "War has broken out".  It was difficult, and then negotiations began.  This is a source of hope.  And he said to me, "Now with the distribution of weapons, with the formation of Interahamwe, with the creation of the CDR party, with the birth of Hutu-Power, it is extremely dangerous.  The genocide might happen.  Genocide might happen because Habyarimana is not capable of carrying out genocide.  But if the MDR, the PSD and the PL join in with the RPF, really oppose Habyarimana, his hands will be tied.  He cannot carry out genocide.  But with these divisions, goodbye to national unity, goodbye to peace, goodbye to an exit strategy for a solution for this situation."  And this was his analysis.

Q.
Tell me, Witness, did the distribution of these weapons -- which you have described very ably -- in 1993 spill over to the following year?

A.
Yes, the distribution continued.  It is not the press release of the monsignor that tried to stop the distribution.  In fact, Monsignor Kalibushi was in a worst state.  He was persecuted even more.  They took his car, and they even tried to kidnap him, so everything continued as before.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Prosecutor, is this a convenient time for a short break?

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, yes, yes, yes.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
We adjourn the Court for 15 minutes. 
(Court recessed from 1100H to 1126H)
   MADAM PRESIDENT:
The proceedings are resumed.  

Yes, Mr. Ng'arua, you can continue with your examination-in-chief. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Thank you, My Lords. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Witness -- are you comfortable, Mr. Murashi?

A.
Yes, quite, thank you.

Q.
Thank you.  Now we can proceed.  Just before we took the short break, we were speaking of distribution of weapons in 1994.  Now, did you continue to meet with Father Aloys Nzaramba in 1994?

A.
Yes, I did continue to meet with him because we lived in the same place and we remained together until the genocide, at which point he was killed.

Q.
Thank you.  And in 1994, did anything change from what you have been telling the Court happened in 1993?

A.
That is to say in 1993, when the weapons were being distributed, that was towards the end of the year already, in my area, Interahamwes began to disappear.  They vanished from our place, and we heard rumours that the Interahamwe had gone to train in Gishwati forest.  The training programme had taken place, the Interahamwe had been trained, and this was a formal training process, and at one point they were no longer demonstrating.  They had previously been in the habit of demonstrating on the Gisenyi-Ruhengeri road to threatening people in singing -- through songs, like tubatsembesembe ,which means "let us kill them."  So I said, there was relative calm, which is to say that the Interahamwes vanished.  

And the same sources told us that they had gone for training in Gishwati forest.  And then, at that time of relative calm, the Kangura newspaper kept on -- was still being published and was still making insinuations to the effect that war would soon -- was impending.  And they also dealt with the impending death of President Habyarimana, and that after his death the Tutsis would be killed.  RTLM radio was broadcasting and was preaching hatred and was issuing threats.  And at one point, Kangura newspaper would also publish articles -- one article that portrayed President Habyarimana as a priest, looking timid, and that he was incapable of managing the affairs of the state.  And he was depicted as a man who was unable of resolving the political crisis in the country.  

And then, as I said, Kangura also predicted Habyarimana's death in March 1994 and that after his death the Tutsis would be killed.  And at one point, at the beginning of April, there was also -- well, at that point, the Interahamwes reappeared.  It was in early April.  I don't recall the exact date, but it was before the aircraft accident involving President Habyarimana.  And I saw Interahamwes around the area, dressed in uniform, the Interahamwe uniform.  On the 5th or 6th -- I'm not too sure of the date.  I particularly remember seeing two Interahamwe wearing uniform, and they were stationed in front of my house -- stationed in front of my house.  They were monitoring movements, my movements as well as my family's movement as well as of people coming out of my house.  They were silent.  They refused to answer -- to interact with us.  When we would bid them good morning, they would refuse to answer.  All they did was observe, the whole day, and I recall they were still there, the whole day, on the day that President Habyarimana died.  

So, you have more or less an idea of the kind of atmosphere that prevailed at the time, from late December 1993 to early April 1994. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, you saw these two Interahamwes in front of your house before the death of President Habyarimana? 

THE WITNESS:
Yes, Madam President. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Mr. Murashi, tell the Court what was the source of your information that distribution of weapons continued into 1994 from 1993.

A.
As I told you, it is the same sources, the same sources.  These were people who were issuing threats, colleagues, priests; there were primary school children.  The very same sources I mentioned.

Q.
In 1994, who issued threats against whom?

A.
In early 1994, as I said, there was relative peace, especially with the presence of UNAMIR and the Arusha Accords.  We were expecting that the transitional parliament would be sworn in.  There was some confusion.  And threats, as such, these were not open.  For instance, my wife, who was working at the maternity hospital, had found one of her colleagues who was the director of the clinic, who had told her that, "You are in the habit of seeking refuge at the seminary.  You will be followed there.  And this time you will not escape."  And she was also told -- I think it was just a short while before the plane crashed -- "This week, you will not feature on the list of duty nurses; that's because you will be on duty in heaven."  That's how she told her.  Another threat:  I had a fellow teacher -- and I said these were veiled threats.  This colleague went to a neighbouring bar where he was in the habit of going -- I was not with him then, but he reported this incident to me.  He found a Hutu -- Hutu teachers drinking there.  They offered him drinks, and they said to him, "McKinley (phonetic), this is probably your last drink."  And then I met another colleague who greeted me very warmly but laughingly and said, "Do you know what we call in Kirundi (phonetic) 'kuryamira ukuboko kw'abagabo' means?"  Kuryamira is spelled K-U-R-Y-A-M-I-R-A, U-K-U-B-O-K-O, K-W-'-A-B-A-G-A-B-O, kuryamira ukuboko kw'abagabo.  This means -- in Kirundi, it means to die.  So he shook my hand warmly, and he asked me, "Do you know what 'kuryamira ukuboko kw'abagabo' means?"  And I said, "What do you mean by that?"  And he said, "You know, it could happen to anybody.  It could also happen to you," he said.  So he said it could happen, and I said, "Yeah, it could happen to you too."  And we laughed about it, and we separated.  And then another thing -- and these were very veiled, very craftily presented threats.  
My wife heard a piece of information from one of her fellow nurses.  There was a girl who had been offered to us and who had been working for quite a while.  We were getting along well with her, and one evening around 8:00 p.m., the nurse came to the house -- to our house -- and told my wife, "I am taking my niece."  It was actually a niece of hers.  "I am collecting my niece."  And my wife asked her why, and asked her, "Well, even -- even if you do take her, you should come and collect her during the daytime, not at night."  And she replied, "Don't worry; she'll come back."  But we insisted, "Why take her at night?"  And she said, "Don't worry.  I am taking her to Gikongoro tomorrow morning.  I'm giving her a message to take to my parents at Gikongoro, and she'll be back."  But my wife insisted, "But why are you coming in the night?"  And her colleague replied, finally -- and this was in my presence; I was there -- "Do not worry.  She will come back, provided that there are no roadblocks along the road."  "But why would roadblocks be erected on the road?"  "Well," she laughed, "we'll see."   

So these are types of warnings and threats that we encountered.  There are many other incidents that I can recount.

Q.
If you would just pause there, Witness.  I would like to explore that matter a bit further.  When did this happen?  In which year did your house help and the nurse incident take place?

A.
This was early April -- no, rather, end -- late March, end of March, early April 1994. 

Q.
What was the ethnicity and, if you can remember, the name of your house help involved in this incident?

A.
The nurse and the house help were Hutu.  I cannot remember the name of the house help, but the nurse was called Asterie (phonetic).

Q.
Yes.  Now, you have said quite at bit of things, and, sorry, I'll have to take you back a little bit.  That is the nature of the requirement of the rules of evidence.  

Tell us, when you say that the Interahamwe vanished and that you heard they were in Gishwati forest, how did you get this information?  Can you tell the Court how you got this information?

A.
I did say that my sources were the same.  First of off, the Interahamwe, the unemployed youth, as I said, some of them were neighbours.  Some of them were young boys we knew, young boys who sold cigarettes by the roadside.  Some of them were house boys; some of them were our house helps, and if I were to tell you, for example, if my wife asked her colleague to give her one of her nieces as a house help, it is because in the environment the boys were no longer accepting to work as house boys. They were no longer around.  They were gone.  And we knew them, and before they leave, they say, "We are going to Gishwati to train to fight the Inyenzi."  

It's ambiguity because if you say you are going to fight the Inyenzi, sometimes that would refer to the RPF on the war front, and sometimes the undertone is that it's the Tutsis within.  "We're going to learn how -- we're going to have a weapon training so as to fight the Tutsis;" that's what they used to say.  

Secondly, I told you that we had the information from our children in the primary schools, because the children, innocently, when they heard these things at home, they tell their little friends.  And then the priests.  The priests are generally in the secrets of the population.  They are aware of what's happening among the people.  And then also I told you there are innocent people in the population who were not in favour, particularly elderly people who did not support the system of killing, and they also used to tell us.  And sometimes also, I told you, those who were living would brag about it; they would boast about it.  Those who were not in support would tell us, sometimes in a friendly manner, in the manner I have described.  And then the priests as well as peoples of the primary schools.  

And then the fact that the movement of people was visible in the area.  When they came back, we saw them that time in uniform.  It was visible, and they said, "We were at Gishwati."

Q.
Yes, Mr. Murashi, for the purpose and benefit of the Accused persons, to defend themselves fully, you need to say at least who told you about Gishwati.  Can you remember at least one person?  You have laid down a good background, but can you remember at least one or two people who actually told you about the movement of these youths, the Interahamwe, from the neighbourhood to Gishwati forest?  Can you clarify that?

A.
I've already given the name of the priest, Nzaramba.  I gave you the name of my daughter, who was a person in the primary school.  There's one Samidibura who lived on the hill, up hill from Nyundo.  Samidibura is S-A-M-I-D-I-B-U-R-A.  Samidibura was an elderly person who lived on the hill, and very often when I met him he would say, "But do you people understand what is happening today, that Rwanda has never been like this?  At the time that our fathers -- my father -- lived, it was not like this.  We don't understand young men who go and learn weapon handling and are carried in buses, and we don't know how far this is going to take us."  Once he told me that, "I believe you are going to be killed, and a person who is going to be killed should know it."  That's what he told me.  He used to tell me, "You need to take necessary measures, but I don't know what.  Maybe you need to go to Goma."  He often told me this.

Q.
What was Samidibura's ethnicity?

A.
He was a Hutu.

Q.
And when did he give you these warnings?

A.
He lived on a hill called Runande.  Runande is R-U-N-D-A -- R-U-N-A-N-D-E, Runande.  It was a hill that was close to the plain where we lived.  He told me often -- he told me this.  He warned me in 1994 that he did not understand the turn of events here.  He also told me that when there was a distribution of weapons, that he did not understand.  When people went to Gishwati, he said, "Even my children have gone there.  They have become Interahamwe, and I don't understand."  So as I was saying about the elderly person who said he did not understand the system, who even went so far as to condemn it, he was never a member of that movement of hatred and killings.

Q.
Now, when did this gentleman, Samidibura, tell you about his sons going to Gishwati?

A.
It was early 1994. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court in relation to Nyundo where is Gishwati?

A.
The Gishwati forest is a very vast forest which is astride many communes:  Kanama commune, Mutura, Karago, Gaseke, Ramba and Rutsiro.  It's a very vast forest.  And from Nyundo, I cannot say how many kilometres; maybe 20 kilometres on the hills because we are on the plains.

Q.
And can you tell the Court, how -- whether you know how the youth or Interahamwe were taken to Gishwati forest?  Who organised that transport, do you know?

A.
Well, I don't know what means of transportation they used.  I don't know if they went on foot or on trucks.  It's possible they could have gone on foot because it is not far from our area.  They could very well have gone on foot.  

But the same sources of information, the training sessions were organised by the military authorities, and the commander of military operations, Colonel Anatole Nsengiyumva -- and this is from the same sources of information.  I'm talking about the organisation of training sessions for the Interahamwe in the Gishwati forest. 

Q.
And did you discuss with your wife the conditions under which she was exposed to this matter of ethnicity at her place of work?

A.
Yes, obviously.  My wife was a victim of persecution at Nyundo maternity, where she worked, and this even before the onset of the war.  There was generalised persecution to everybody, and as I said, we were in exile and we had just come back from exile.  When she started working there, she was not well received by her colleagues, particularly by the director of the maternity, who was a Hutu.  She was very careful about her, and she used to say that she came to replace her as director of the maternity.  And since the maternity came to the Nyundo diocese and since the bishop was the legal representative of the diocese -- he was the one who employed her at the maternity, and that the bishop was a Tutsi.  So she used to say that, "You are certainly here to replace me,"  and therefore she was the subject of persecution.  Sometimes documents would disappear from her file, her administrative file.  So when the war started, the persecution increased, and they were telling her that her brothers and sisters were enemies of the country.  The Inyenzis had attacked the country, they wanted to exterminate the Hutus, and that, therefore, she is an accomplice, and therefore she's an Inyenzi.  And they subjected her to all these insults that were hit on Tutsis at the time.  So when they started looting, we were specifically targeted as a result of she (sic) being targeted at the maternity.  And as I said, there was a lull.

Q.
Tell the Court, when did your wife start working at the Nyundo maternity.

A.
In 1986.

Q.
And up to when did she work there, up to which year?

A.
Up until 1994, when she died. 

Q.
Now, you also said that Kangura newspaper had a certain depiction of Habyarimana as a priest.  Now, what was this Kangura newspaper, can you tell us?  Did you buy it?

A.
I'm sorry, I cannot remember the detail of that particular publication, but it does exist.  If you look for it, you'll find it, but I didn't buy it; I read it.  I never bought Kangura.  I just borrowed it from others and read it.

Q.
Can you tell the Court what type of a paper was it?  Was it a daily?  Was it a monthly?  What was the quality of this paper?

A.
Kangura, I think, was a weekly newspaper, and Kangura -- and it is notorious for being an extremist paper.  It was edited by one Hassan Ngeze, Ngeze, N-G-E-Z-E, Hassan, who hails from Gisenyi.  I know him well for having met him and chatted with him during and before this period of persecution.  Hassan Ngeze was first -- was initially a cobbler and then he became a bus conductor, and suddenly he became a journalist.  He initially represented a newspaper called Kanguka.  Kanguka is 

K-A-N-G-U-K-A. 

Kanguka was a paper that belonged to one Rwabukwisi, R-W-A-B-U-K-W-I-S-I; Rwabukwisi, Ravi.  Ravi was his first name.  And this was a paper, an opposition newspaper at the time that the opposition was beginning to oppose Habyarimana.  And Rwabukwisi was one of the pioneers of the opposition in editing this paper.  He was pointing out the weaknesses of the government.  He was unveiling them particularly, justice -- who (sic) was not rendered properly, the ethnic problems, and then he -- Kajeguhakawa.  Kajeguhakwa is K-A--- K-J -- K-A-J -- K-A-J-E-G-U-H-W-A.  Sorry, I'll start all over again.  K-A -- K-A-J-U-H-W-A.  No.  It's H-W-A-K-A, Kajeguhakwa, Valens.  

So Ngeze and Kajeguhakwa are both from Gisenyi, and Ngeze was his representative in Gisenyi, and he distributed Kanguka for a while.  And then later on he created a newspaper of a similar name, Kangura.  It was no longer Kanguka, but Kangura.  Kangura (sic) was for the opposition and Kangura was a pro-government paper that defended the views of the government.  And I was told in Gisenyi that Hassan Ngeze -- I was not told, I saw -- that Ngeze and -- was beginning to get some resources.  He bought a motorbike and was beginning to propagate the views which are contrary to what he was distributing initially.  He started meeting colonel --  a certain colonel, and then he started editing that newspaper, Kangura.  

Now that Kangura was distributed not just in Gisenyi but everywhere in Rwanda, it was said that it was a newspaper that belonged to the Akazu and that Ngeze was simply a tool, a mouthpiece of the Akazu because Ngeze, as he was known, was incapable of writing newspaper articles, was incapable of deep thinking, and no one could imagine that Ngeze could represent the president, who was father of the nation, as a priest.  One really needs to be versed in politics to be able make that abstraction, which Ngeze was considered to be incapable of.  

So the newspaper presented President Habyarimana as a priest, in a priest's gown, and that presented the president in a negative light, as a timid person, a person who was afraid and incapable of running the state.  And Ngeze could not have done that, considering his level and his social standing.  Habyarimana, at that time, was a person who was already persecuted by his group, the Akazu.  Why?  Because the Arusha negotiations -- because of the Arusha negotiations, because the attempts of genocide had failed, because the international community and the embassies were putting pressure on him.  So the Akazu group began saying that President Habyarimana is weak, and they started portraying him as a priest, a person who is only capable of saying mass and giving blessings.  No more than that.  So at that stage Habyarimana was politically dead.  The physical death could follow for those, and this was clear for those who could make political analyses at that time.

Q.
Tell the Court, Mr. Murashi, in which year, and probably in which month, did you see this depiction of President Habyarimana as a priest?

A.
Madam President, I do not remember the exact date or the month, but it could have been at the end of December 1993 or beginning of April 1994.  It could have been January or February '94, but I don't remember.  However, these things are contained in the records.

Q.
Yes.  Witness, I want to show you a document.  

MR. NG'ARUA:
And for the benefit of the Defence, this document is part of our disclosures, and it's on P. 2(144) in the list of exhibits.  If the court management could assist. 

MS. ST-LAURENT:
With your permission, Madam President, may we know what this is?  Could we have the K-number?

MR. NG'ARUA:
The K-number of the French is K103636.  Just a minute. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
It appears to be 66. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, it's not a very good quality copy, but the English version that is attached to it is K0273517.  That's the English version.  The French version is K013-6388.  It's contained in P. 2, the list of exhibits. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Prosecutor, we're being informed that this document was not entered into evidence.

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, it was not entered into evidence, but it was disclosed to Defence.  

If Court management can assist me to give one copy to the -- well, if anybody in the Defence would like a copy for quick reference, that would be fine.  Mr. Morrison and --

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Prosecutor, didn't you say that this is Exhibit P. 2(144)?

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, My Lord.  What it means is that Exhibit P. 2 was tendered in as a list of exhibits, as a list containing various exhibits.  And this one on that list is P-number 144.  Some were admitted and some were not, and I agree that this was one of those that was not admitted provisionally or as a full exhibit. 

May I proceed, My Lord?

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Yes. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Witness, do you have a document in front of you?  Do you have a document in front of you?

A.
Yes, I have it now.

Q.
How many pages is it?

A.
There was one page in French and one page in English, so that's two pages.

Q.
Yes.  Do you recognise the contents of that document?

A.
Madam President, I recognise the document.  This is the document that we talked about.  This is the press release which was broadcast by Bishop Kalibushi on the 28th of December 1993, and I did say it was the 28th of December 1993.

Q.
Yes.  In what language did you read the bishop's press release; that is, Bishop Kalibushi, Kalibushi's press release?

A.
That is the press release that I have here before me in French, because this is a copy of the original that I read.  I know it because of the typewriter of the diocese and secretariat, so this is in fact the document.

Q.
When you say you know the typewriter of the diocese, exactly what do you mean?

A.
The characters of the machine, that is, the characters I have before me, those are the characters of that machine.

Q.
Thank you. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, the original was in French?

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, My Lords. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Okay. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Witness, in the press release that you read, did it have the bishop's signature on it?

A.
Beg your pardon?

Q.
When you read the press release --

A.
I don't know really.

Q.
Okay.  And can you kindly read to the Court --

JUDGE SHORT:
Do you mean you don't remember? 

THE WITNESS:
That is what I mean. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Thank you. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Can you read paragraph 3?

A.
Madam President, do you wish me to read it out?

Q.
Yes, please.

A.
So paragraph 3, you say?

Q.
Yes.

A.
"As regards security, for quite some time now, thugs armed with guns and grenades have been wreaking havoc all across Nyundo diocese.  Indeed, people are greatly concerned about weapons being distributed in certain communes.  We strongly urge those in charge of security to pursue all those carrying firearms illegally and to clearly explain to the public the intended use of the weapons that have been distributed in recent days."

Q.
And the last line?

A.
"The bishop and clergy of Nyundo diocese wish the people of Rwanda a happy and peaceful new year of 1994."

Q.
And what is the date of that letter?

A.
Twenty-eighth December 1993.

Q.
Yes. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
My Lord, may I have that document marked as P. 49, that this is the document that the witness read.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Entered as P. 49.
MR. NG'ARUA:
Thank you. 

MR. MORAN:
Your Honours, there's a couple of things with this document that I think need to be explained to get to its authenticity.  At the top of it, it has a fax number on it, on the original showing that it was faxed from a telephone in New York City at 8:27 in the morning.  And presuming they are the American ways of doing dates, on February the 11th, 1997, from something called ALD.  And, you know, Judge, I think that requires some explanation.  

Also it shows that this document was added in English, page, and then an underlined 39.  On the English -- on the French version, Your Honour, the original.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Moran, what's the basis of your objection?

MR. MORAN:
Your Honour, this goes to the authenticity of this document.  This document on its face shows that it came from New York City in 1997. 

JUDGE SHORT:
The original document could have been faxed from New York City to somebody else. 

MR. MORAN:
Yes, Your Honour, there's no question about that. 

JUDGE SHORT:
So how does that affect the admissibility of the document? 

MR. MORAN:
Your Honour, it goes to -- this document itself, the piece of paper that you have in your hands, shows on its face that it -- it came from some place called ALD, whatever that is, in New York City, in February of 1997.  And this document --

JUDGE SHORT:
That may well be so, but then how does that go to the admissibility of the document?

MR. MORAN:
It goes to the authenticity of the document, Your Honour.

JUDGE SHORT:
Because if it was created in December 1993 and then subsequently was faxed from the United States in 1997, what's your point? 

MR. MORAN:
Well, Your Honour, I think we need some explanation on where -- how a document, purportedly created in Rwanda in 1993, ended up in New York City in 1997 and then ended up in the possession of the Office of the Prosecutor.  

And I'd sure like to know who -- like I said, this is a document with 39 pages in it.  It shows on it, again -- shows that it's typed up there and it came from something called ALD, and I have no idea what ALD is.

JUDGE SHORT:
Mr. Prosecutor. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
If I can assist the learned counsel.  When we produced P. 2 as a list of exhibits, we called our first witness, Mr. Maxwell Nkole, who was not a protected witness, and he said that all the documents contained in P. 2 were the sources for his investigation, and he did say that some of these documents had been received from New York.  

Now, that is the right person that Mr. Moran should have asked about ALD and other things, but apparently that question is coming now almost eight months late.  And this witness is only handing over this testimony, as this document is the image or the copy of the communiqué or the press release that he read in Rwanda during December 1993.  Therefore, he is not -- we are not pushing or having this document admitted that what it contains is true, but what he said in that communiqué is the same as what is here now.  And that is what he saying.  

So I don't see any point, really, in the objection as a matter of technicality at all, and, therefore, the objection should be overruled.

MR. MORAN:
Your Honours, if he is offering this solely -- if he's not offering it for the truth of the matters that are asserted herein, but simply that that's what this witness said at some point in history, I have no objection to that.  But if he is offering it for the truth of the matters that are asserted in the document, I still think it needs to be authenticated a little bit more.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
This is what Mr. Ng'arua said, that this was a document which was read by the witness, so you can now withdraw your objection. 

MR. MORAN:
As long as it's admitted for the limited purpose, Your Honour, I have no problem. 

MR. MORRISON:
Your Honour, that does beg a question quite apart from issues of provenance and admissibility.  If this document is simply being admitted by the Prosecution or being sought to be exhibited to be admitted upon the basis that this is the document that was read by -- or an exact facsimile of the document that was read by the witness, if the Prosecution are not seeking to adduce it as being evidence of the truth of its contents, how does it become relevant and therefore how does it become admissible?  

There are two separate issues here.  One is provenance and one is relevance and admissibility.  What's the relevance of a document like this if it is not asserted that it's true?  If it's being asserted that it's true, then the provenance needs to be proved in particular. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, My Lord.  What the Prosecutor is seeking to do here is simply this.  The witness, who lived in the community, the same community as the bishop who wrote this letter, has given testimony that there was distribution of arms, there was tension, and that is on record as his sworn testimony.  And to corroborate that, he says that during the same time he's not the only one who observed those situations, that the bishop of the diocese also wrote this letter, which corroborates, really, what he is saying.  

Now, what we're saying here is that he is not really the author of this document.  I agree with that.  But the fact that when he read this document, he understood it, and the same document is the one before Court and addresses the same issues that he is saying.  So we are not really saying that when this document was written, that he knows the sources of information of the author, but simply that this is the document he read.  And we are going therefore to -- we are asking for it to be admitted purely for the weight it's worth, that somebody else in the stations of -- in the station of a bishop had the same thing to say.  

So, really, it's a question of weight.  The Court will know how much weight to put on to this thing, because we do not have the bishop of Nyundo here to testify.  All we are saying is that there is something that was broadcast on radio, and this is the same copy that -- or, rather, a similar copy 

that --

JUDGE SHORT:
Mr. Ng'arua, you see, you have created a problem for yourself.  Is this a copy of the original press release? 

MR. NG'ARUA:
That is what the witness says it is. 

JUDGE SHORT:
And so why are you not tendering it as a copy of the original press release? 

MR. NG'ARUA:
My Lord, that's a very simple way of doing it.  I think that's what we should do.  We should tender it in as a copy of the press release that he read.

JUDGE SHORT:
I think the witness has identified it. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes.

JUDGE SHORT:
And he went further to say that the characters are similar to the typewriter that was being used in the parish.  And what's your -- why are you not tendering it or producing it as a copy?  I think that would obviate all the objections, unless there are some other objections. 

MR. MORRISON:
Your Honour, if this is being produced as corroborative evidence of the truth of the contents of this witness's testimony, then this is being produced as evidence of the truth of the contents of the document.  So that exactly contradicts the basis that my learned friend was producing it for.  

Either this document is being produced as corroborative evidence of the witness's testimony or it isn't.  If it is being produced as corroborative testimony, and my learned friend said that it just was, then its provenance needs to be proved. 

JUDGE SHORT:
But what would be your objection, Mr. Morrison, about the provenance of the document?  The witness has identified it as the -- a copy of the press release that was issued.  He's also testified that the characters are the same as the typewriter that was being used.  Even that's sufficient evidence of provenance. 

MR. MORRISON:
Your Honour, no, that's sufficient evidence that the witness considers it to be a similar typewriter.  The best evidence of provenance is the evidence of a signature or a stamp or some other item of authentication on the document.  That this witness, after a gap of ten years, says it is similar to the typewriter that was used by the bishop, or at least the bishop's secretariat had access to, is not in itself sufficient.  All that shows is that the typeface on this is similar to any similar typewriter of the same make and model, and we haven't got the slightest idea how many of those there might have been in Rwanda in 1993.  There may have been ten; there may have been ten thousand.  We simply don't know.  

It could prove, if this were a case on forensic science, what the witness's testimony could go to show is that this was a document typed on a typewriter of the same make and model of the typewriter that he was familiar that the bishop used, but it would go no higher than that.  It wouldn't prove that this document emanated from the bishop.  What would prove that the document emanated from the bishop is either the original document or testimony from the bishop.  That would be the evidence of provenance.  

What we have here is an unsigned facsimile -- not even an unsigned original, the provenance of which appears to be, at least, confusing.  It's dated Nyundo, 28th of December of '93.  It has then apparently gone to New York, and I defer to my learned friend's better knowledge of the sub codes of the telephone system of the United States than mine -- and it then has the letters ALD.  Now, if this has been received by the Office of the Prosecutor from New York from a source ALD as part of a bundle of documentation, including at least 39 pages, then it is not beyond the wit of the Prosecution to identify the source of the document better than they have.  Simply to say that it came from New York and a witness said it came from New York its disingenuous.  We can tell it came from New York from the code.  They need to do, with great respect, better than that.  

I venture, and this is purely suggestion, that the initials ALD may be in fact a short form of the expert witness Alison Des Forges, who does have a New York telephone and fax number.

JUDGE SHORT:
Mr. Morrison, I'm aware -- I mean, not all press releases are signed.  So far as signature is concerned, I think you would take judicial notice of the fact that not all press releases are signed.  Some of them are just typed and then sent out to the press houses.  

But you are absolutely right that the typewriter might be one of maybe a thousand.  At least that goes to some -- the fact that a witness can testify that the characters of this particular press release are similar to the typewriter that was being used at the parish is some evidence that can be used to go to authenticity of the document.  

But, in any event, as you know, the test for admissibility is -- here is relevance and probative value.  Whether we would attach much weight to it, if any at all, it's another matter.  

In any event, all of this, all what is written here, is already in evidence.  

And I was -- I was hoping that Mr. Moran in particular would have jumped to his feet to object to this portion of evidence on the ground that it is not the best evidence, but he didn't, and he allowed all of this evidence to go in.  And after all the evidence has now gone in and the witness has been asked to identify this document, issue about the authenticity of this document has been raised.
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JUDGE SHORT:
But any way we have heard objections.  We will deliberate. 

MR. MORRISON:
Your Honour, I accept with great respect everything Your Honour says about the question of the weight of the evidence, the question of it being that the best evidence consideration only arises now.  However, until this document is sought to be put into evidence in this case, an objection as to best evidence doesn't arise, but it does arise now because, of course, as I say, the best evidence is either the original or the evidence of the author or the evidence of someone who saw the author create the document.  This is, at best, second-hand hearsay, and all I am concerned about is not to make trouble over this particular document, but I anticipate already to be many such documents, and it is very important, with great respect to my learned friend for the Prosecution, that they get it right.  And there seems to be a state of some confusion.  We have had now two completely opposing explanations for the admission of this evidence:  Firstly, that it is not evidence of the truth of its content; secondly, that it is, because it corroborates the truth of what somebody says.  Those are in direct contradistinctions, the one with the other.  I would like to know now that perhaps firmly on what basis the Prosecution asks you, Your Honours, to take note of this document as evidence of the truth of its contents or not?
MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Prosecutor, what is your response?

MR. NG'ARUA:
My response is that we will withdraw our first position that it was not for the content or the truthfulness of it but -- and insist that it is exactly that, that this is a copy of the document that he read from the bishop.

MR. MORAN:
Your Honours, I am confused.  He says that this is just a copy of the document from the bishop that he read, and I have no problem with that.  If that's a copy of the document from the bishop that he read back in 1993 or 1994, then it's not being admitted for the truth of the words on the paper.  On the other hand, if it is being admitted for the truth of the words on the paper, he has to at least bring some showing of how the bishop and the priests got this knowledge.  

As Judge Muthoga said a couple of days ago, when you are bringing in this kind of hearsay, that has to have some sort of basis; that there be some showing of the basis of the knowledge.  So we have to, I think, separate the two concepts, the truth of the words on the paper and whether or not this man read the paper in 1993 or 1994. 

JUDGE SHORT:
I am not sure I understand you.  Are you saying that the bishop and the people who issued this press release must indicate in the press release how they got the knowledge --  how they got knowledge of what they have stated in the press release? 

MR. MORAN:
No, Your Honour.  No, no.  I am not saying that at all.  What I am saying is, if the Prosecutor is admitting this document for the truth of the words in the press release, that there have been successive changes of government in the days leading up to the end of the year, or paragraph 3 as regards security:  "For quite sometime now thugs armed with guns and grenades," if they are offering it solely to show that that is what the priests said, that was the statement that was adopted by the priests and the bishop in a pastoral meeting, is one thing.  It is quite another thing to say that those words are true.  It is one thing to say that they made this -- they adopted the statement, and it is something else to say that the words on the paper are truthful words.  And again, I have no objection if the only offer is that this is the copy of the document the man read, that the witness read.  But if we are saying what the priests said is true, that is different. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Moran, the witness has categorically said that he read these press releases in the year 1993. 

MR. MORAN:
Yes, Your Honour, and --

MADAM PRESIDENT:
He didn't say anything about the truthfulness of these words. 

MR. MORAN:
And, Your Honour, if it is being admitted solely for the purpose of showing that this is what he read in 1993, I have no objection to it.  If it is being admitted, as the Prosecutor seems to say it is being admitted or being offered, for the purpose of proving the truth of the statements in the document, then I think that under the Tadic decision on hearsay, he has to prove the reliability of those statements. 

JUDGE SHORT:
Isn't the truth of these statements going to be proved by cross-examination and then the Court will have to determine whether these statements are true or not?  The witness says this is what the bishop said.  This is the press release the bishop and the priests issued.  This is what they said.  

And, as to whether what they said was true or not, it is up to you to challenge the witness if you think that it is not true, and then at the end of the day the Court will have to determine the truth of the matter.

MR. MORAN:
Well, Your Honour, I respectfully disagree with you to this extent.  Again, the leading decision is Tadic, from 1997 of the ICTY.  And what the Tadic trial chamber said -- and, by the way, as far as I know, it has never been decided by the Appeals Chamber and it has never been a judgment.  We saw in this decision that the proponent of evidence such as this has the burden of showing the reliability.  To support this argument, I will give the Prosecution that they have shown that this is the document that this witness read back all those many years ago, and if that's all that is being offered for, then that is not a problem.  But if it is being offered for the truth of the matter that the bishop -- not only the bishop and the priests said this, but, in fact, that is what occurred, there were thugs armed with guns and grenades wreaking havoc across the diocese, then there has to be some showing that that is reliable.  

JUDGE SHORT:
What is reliable?  What word is reliable? 

MR. MORAN:
That the priests’ statements that there was -- I am just picking this second clause of paragraph 3.  "For quite sometime now thugs armed with guns and grenades had been wreaking havoc all over the diocese."  I believe that Tadic requires that for this to be admitted for the truth of those words, to prove that that, in fact, occurred, there has to be a showing of reliability by the proponent of that evidence.  

I am not saying that he has to show reliability that the words were spoken, but that -- if it is simply offered that the words were spoken, they have met their burden on that; I will give them that.  But if they are offering it for not only with the words spoken but the words were truthful, they have to show some -- make some minimal showing of reliability as to the truth of the words. 

JUDGE SHORT:
Mr. Moran, aren't you confusing authenticity of the document with truth of the words contained in the document?  So far as the truth of the words contained in the document are concerned, that is not -- that is not the issue.  Those are -- the fact that the document says that thugs armed with guns and grenades having -- wreaking havoc is not proved by the tendering of these documents.

MR. MORAN:
Your Honour, again, I disagree with you.  The Prosecutor has said just the opposite.  He has said he is offering it to corroborate this witness's statement that that occurred, which means that these words have to be true, as opposed to the fact that those words were spoken. 

JUDGE SHORT:
So can we agree that the witness says that this document represents the press release which he has spoken about, which was issued on the 28th of December 1993, represents a copy of that press release?  Are you prepared to accept it as that?

MR. MORAN:
Your Honour, I am prepared to accept it as that.  I am not prepared to accept the truth of the matters that are laid out in that press release, which is what the Prosecution said they are offering it for.

JUDGE SHORT:
Prosecutor, are you --

MR. NG'ARUA:
We agree that it be handed in as the documents that the witness read.

MR. MORAN:
Okay.  On that limited basis, I have no problem. 

MR. MORRISON:
Let me make sure I fully understand this.  The Prosecution were in one position that they went through 180 degrees; now they have turned back to a 180 degrees.  If they intend to sail on that original course, away from the rocks, I, for one, I am a very happy person and I should take my life jacket off.

JUDGE SHORT:
I guess we are all happy. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Good for you, too.

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, thank you.  Thank you.  

May the document be marked as P. 49. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
It is so marked and entered as P. 49. 

(Exhibit No. P. 49 admitted)
BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Witness, you also said in a minute ago that the Interahamwe that had gone to the forest subsequently came back.  When did they come back? 

A.
Madam President, I did say that it was beginning of April.  I personally saw Interahamwe posted in front of my house.  There were others going around the town, but there were those two who were posted in front of my house on the 6th of April 1994, and they were posted there for three days -- for the whole day. 

Q.
Witness, you said that they had a uniform.  What was the uniform of the -- can you describe the uniform of the Interahamwe? 

A.
Those who were stationed in front of my house were wearing --

Q.
Let us start with the Interahamwe generally.  If those who were in front of your house had a uniform, you can go into that as well.  But what was the uniform of the Interahamwe?  Can you describe it? 

A.
The Interahamwe uniform consisted of the colours of the MRND flag, that is the red, black and green.  They wore a beret in the same colour, and it bore the insignia of the MRND.  That was the outfit they wore.  Others would also wear -- another group wore uniforms that consisted of a shirt and trousers that was multicoloured, and it bore the MRND insignia. 

Q.
And when they came back in April, did they carry any weapons with them? 

A.
Those I saw in front of my house did not have weapons, but -- and also the ones in town did not carry weapons. 

Q.
Now, you mentioned the name of Anatole Nsengiyumva in relation to the military and the Interahamwe.  What was his role over Interahamwe? 

A.
Yes, I told you that in the structure of the organisation there was military and civil defence.  And under this system, the military defence wing was headed by a commander.  He was in charge of operations.  So the Interahamwe were civil militia who had undergone military training and their leader was a civilian.  

However, the commander in-chief was the operations commander, a military person, and he was at the same time tasked with coordinating the Interahamwe activities.  So Anatole Nsengiyumva was commander of military operations in Gisenyi as of December 1993, and he also acted as a coordinator of Interahamwe activities. 

Q.
Mr. Murashi, who was the civilian leader of the Interahamwe, as far as you know? 

A.
In Gisenyi province, his name was Munyagishari, M-U-N-Y-A-G-I-S-H-A-R-I, Munyagishari.

Q.
And did -- where did he reside around April 1994? 

A.
Munyagishari was living in Gisenyi town. 

Q.
Did you know him as a person before? 

A.
Yes, I did know him. 

Q.
And in 1994, did you see him? 

A.
Yes, I did see him. 

Q.
Can you tell the Court under what circumstances you saw Munyagishari? 

A.
Munyagishari in Interahamwe was not a person that I could interact with personally, but I did notice him whenever I was in Gisenyi town; I would see him.  They had offices in Gisenyi and we passed by those offices regularly.  And at times he would move around the roads, because we were living on the tarred road and we would see him move there, but I would not go hear him because I had no need to exchange with him.  I would simply see him.  I saw him as the Interahamwe leader. 

Q.
And can you tell the Court how you came to know that that person was Munyagishari? 

A.
How I knew his name?  How I knew of his activities?  What exactly do you mean?

Q.
I mean how you knew the person Munyagishari.  When did you -- did you ever meet him?

A.
Before he joined the Interahamwe militia, I knew him as a man around Gisenyi.  We would greet each other.  However, we were not friends. 

Q.
And how did you know that he was the leader of Interahamwe in Gisenyi? 

A.
Munyagishari, from the time he was appointed Interahamwe commander -- I do not recollect the date, the exact date, but he would hold meetings, rallies in Gisenyi town.  He would escort Interahamwe cadres on their rounds as they went around intimidating people on the roads.  He would accompany them or ferry them around in buses or pick-up trucks.  At times when they were hanging around and carrying out commando activities, he would provide an escort.  Munyagishari's office in Gisenyi was known as the headquarters of the Interahamwe in that area.

Q.
Yes.  And how did you know that Anatole Nsengiyumva had the overall command of the Interahamwe?  Can you explain to the Court? 

A.
I told you that Anatole Nsengiyumva had been appointed operations commander in December 1993.  And as from that time, in the area, it was a well-known fact.  If you want further details on who told me this, I can tell you it is the same sources I cited before.  Anatole Nsengiyumva was the commander of military operations and coordinator of the Interahamwe.  At the same time, I was aware that he was the leader of the Interahamwes, so that when Monsignor Kalibushi -- when I was with him in refuge, we at one point heard -- Bishop Kalibushi heard that we were to be killed by the Interahamwe, and that Nsengiyumva had sent gendarmes to protect the bishop.  So these people coming to sing or chant threats when we were at the Muhabura volcano -- well, at that point they did not come any more.  So I saw him on two occasions with the bishop, but when we heard that there were Interahamwe threats and these were -- he issued the order to put that to a stop, we were aware that this order emanated from him.

Q.
Mr. Murashi, there is something that myself and the Defence Counsels agreed to avoid in your testimony.  But at one point, did you leave Nyundo to Gisenyi? 

A.
Yes, I did leave Nyundo to go to Gisenyi during the genocide, after my children and spouse had been killed.  I went with a group of priests heading to Gisenyi.  I think it was around the 10th, 10th of April. 

Q.
While in Gisenyi, did you receive any information about activities of Anatole Nsengiyumva, and, if so, what was it? 

A.
I didn't receive information on Anatole Nsengiyumva.  There was a nun whose name is Christen Faida and she was a teacher at Nyundo, in a primary school.  During the genocide, we were together in Nyundo.  We were in the cathedral in Nyundo, and I met her later in Goma when I was a refugee there, and she told me how she had escaped.  She had been saved by Anatole Nsengiyumva, and that he had taken her to his home because she had taught his children at the Kigali military camp.  Before she had come to Gisenyi, she had taught at the military camp in Kigali where she had taught the colonel's children.  So at that -- because of that, he took pity on her.  He took her to his house where she stayed for quite a while and then he facilitated her crossover to Goma.  

So the whole time she was with Anatole, she says that she had hidden in a bedroom but she was able to take note of everything that was happening.  She saw the arrival of commanders coming to report regularly and report to Colonel Nsengiyumva.  She would listen to their conversations.  They would talk of killing, the war, Bishop Kalibushi and a number of other things.  And she told me that 
Mr. Nsengiyumva was indeed the head of the military operation of the Interahamwe.  

Another incident on the gendarme --

Q.
Before we go to the next incident, let's just exhaust this so that we don't keep on going back and forth.  We finish this and then we go to the next incident.
Now, during which period did Christen Faida live in Nsengiyumva's house? 

A.
This was from the time when we were in the Nyundo cathedral.  The killings began on the 7th in Nyundo, and then on the 8th there were no killings, but on the 9th, 9th of April, I believe, 
Sr. Christen Faida fled because they had broken our resistance to the Interahamwe and she left to avoid being killing when the killings had begun.  So she crept into -- they had crept into the Bishop of Nyundo's house and she told me that as she left, she had seen Colonel Anatole Nsengiyumva, who told her or asked her, "Are you there too?"  That is when he took her to his house in 1994.  She stayed there until she fled, and I don't know when that was. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Is she still living, Faida, Christen? 

THE WITNESS:
Yes, she is still alive. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
When you say that the killing started on the 7th and 8th of April, what year do you mean?  What year?

A.
Nineteen ninety-four. 

Q.
And when she told you about her experience -- when she was hiding in Anatole Nsengiyumva's house, what were the circumstances?  How did it come about? 

A.
I told you that we left, we scattered in different directions.  I went to Gisenyi and I managed to run away, and Christen told me that she had been saved by Colonel Anatole Nsengiyumva, who had hidden her at his house for some time and who also helped her to cross over to Goma.  So we met in Goma and she was living in a convent.  I was staying with family members and we would visit each other, and that is how she came to tell me of the events of May, June 1994.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
If you are hungry, we can take the lunch break.

MR. MORRISON:
Your Honours, just before that, just to clarify one matter.  My learned friend didn't go into it in detail quite properly.  I just wish to make a formal admission on behalf of my client, Justin Mugenzi, that this witness's family was killed and killed in the manner which he sets it out in his statement. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
I propose that those parts of his statements dealing with the very sad and traumatic events, that over lunch time I will agree with Mr. Morrison and the Defence which portions are those and then we can hand them in as an exhibit, as the Court pleases. 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Thank you.  We will resume at 2:30 p.m.  

(Court recessed from 1300H to 1443H)
MADAM PRESIDENT:
The sitting in the Court is resumed.  
Mr. Prosecutor, you have the floor for examination-in-chief.
MR. NG'ARUA:
Thank you, My Lord. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Witness, just before we adjourned for lunch, you were saying how you came to know that Nsengiyumva had control over the Interahamwe, and your source was Christen Faida.  Now, did you have any other source of knowing about Sengiyumva's activities with Interahamwe? 

A.
I told you that my sources of information were always the same.  Christen Faida was another extra source of information.  I also told you that Anatole Nsengiyumva often came to visit us or to visit the bishop in the house where we were hiding, and that he was in charge of the entire situation because the bishop told him that we were threatened, and the threats disappeared.  

Afterwards -- well, I didn't see this, but this is more information perhaps.  In the house where we were hiding, Anatole Nsengiyumva gave us gendarmes to protect the bishop, and it is these same gendarmes who helped us to escape and who used to provide us with information.  They were two in number, the gendarmes.  They thought we were all priests.  I may not have said this before.  I escaped as a priest, at least officially, and the gendarmes who were protecting the bishop were also protecting us, and we used to fraternise with them.  And they used to come and go, they used to move around.  They used to go to Palm Beach Hotel where meetings were being held.  They went into town and at some point they proposed that they should help us to escape because they said, "If you are killed, we are not going to get any benefit from it.  But since you priests have money, you can give us money so that we can help you to escape," and it is they who told us how it was organised, Munyagishari and Anatole Nsengiyumva and so on and so forth, regarding the operations.  

One other thing, on the day when the gendarmes proposed that we should escape, to reassure us, they took us in twos and threes at about 8 p.m. or 9 p.m. and they told us, "At night, the Interahamwe are dead drunk, they are sleeping.  We are going to show you that the city is calm and that you can go, you can leave."  They said this because they wanted to have money, the gendarmes.  So they took three of us.  We walked along the lake, that is the road that leads to Goma.  Halfway there, we met a truck which was carrying out patrols and they said, "Hide."  So we hid behind some trees, and then they stopped, the truck stopped, and they spoke with the gendarmes.  And then when they returned, they said, "This is Anatole Nsengiyumva, and he is the one who is patrolling at night, and he goes up to Goma at night to look for weapons."  That is another source.  

Something else that you should know without being too formalistic, you should know that we are a country with an oral tradition, not everything is necessarily written down, and when things are known, they are known because people tell each other.  You cannot ask how a thing is known; the things are discussed.  It is oral tradition in my country.  So when you ask about the names of people who told you this or that, you just know it is not a rumour; it is not hearsay; this is oral tradition.  If somebody says this or such-and-such a person is a chief or a leader, then he is, in fact, the leader.  So you cannot counter this argument by saying that Anatole Nsengiyumva was not the leader.  He was the leader, that is how it is.  So those are the sources of information.

Q.
Thank you, Witness.  Can you tell the Court if you know why Anatole Nsengiyumva came to visit the bishop at the house where you were hiding? 

A.
Thank you.  I think it is a long story.  As you know, the bishop left Nyundo while we were in the cathedral.  He was evacuated by a lieutenant who was with the Interahamwe.  They took the bishop to go and kill him in Gisenyi graveyard.  When they arrived in Gisenyi graveyard, when they were undressing him, Colonel Nsengiyumva arrived and he said:  "You, Monsignor, are you there?  Come, they should not kill you.  I am taking you away."  This is another element of proof that Nsengiyumva was the leader.  So he took the bishop.  He took him from Méridien hotel and it is in this hotel that he took the Bishop to Meridien hotel and he gave him a room there.  
Then afterwards, the monsignor was in contact with the priests who had stayed in the parish.  So he used to monitor the situation through telephone calls, and he asked one of the gendarmes to bring him the priests who were not yet dead, and then he gave him a list of priests.  He knew the names of the priests who were still alive, and so they came and got the priests.  And that is how I managed to slip into the group of priests.  So officially, I left as a priest.  When we arrived in Gisenyi, we joined Bishop Kalibushi.  
And then two days later, there were refugees who came in from Kigali.  Amongst them there were ministers, there were senior officials of the regime, and this was already disorderly.  There were soldiers, including Colonel Serubuga, whom I know, and so we were kicked out of the hotel and we were told that it was because there was no water in the hotel.  Monsignor Kalibushi negotiated with the authorities, that is, with the préfet, with Colonel Anatole Nsengiyumva, so that he would let him -- he would allow him to go to one of these houses that were not far from there, that is not far from the Méridien hotel, which was also close to the Palm Beach hotel.  So these houses share the boundary with the Palm Beach hotel.  So we were permitted to go there.  So it is a few metres away.  We walked there and we stayed in this house.  And so, the Interahamwe used to come and threaten us often.  They would come and sing at the gate:  "You, the Inyenzi, we are going to kill you this evening.  We are going to send you to Muhabura."  And then one evening Colonel Anatole Nsengiyumva came.  He greeted us all.  He shook our hands.  I remember this very well, but he didn't know me.  He thought I was a priest.  He didn't know me before, and he said to the bishop, Bishop Kalibushi, that is, "Tomorrow morning, I shall come and fetch you and I shall take you to Gitarama because there is a meeting of bishops in Gitarama."  So the first visit was to tell monsignor that he was taking him to Gitarama for Episcopal meeting.  But at the same time, the bishop said to him:  "We are under threat from Interahamwe who come here and shout threats."  Anatole Nsengiyumva left this place, but on the next day the bishop phoned him and repeated to him that we were still under threat.  

Anatole Nsengiyumva did not return but he sent two gendarmes to come and protect the bishop.  But the second time he came a little later, I don't remember exactly when, to examine the situation and he asked the bishop, "Are you still under threat?"  And the Bishop said, "No, the threats have stopped."  So I saw him twice.  The first time was to tell the bishop that he would come and fetch him.  He did not fetch him, he sent gendarmes instead to come and protect him.  

On the second time, it was to come and study the situation to determine whether the bishop was more or less at peace.  This is one more aspect of proof that Anatole Nsengiyumva was the leader of the situation. 

Q.
Tell the Court what it means when the Interahamwe who were dancing and menacing you people, saying that, "We will send you to Muhabura."  What is Muhabura? 

A.
Muhabura is a name of a volcano, one of the many volcanoes of Ruhengeri.  That is the first meaning of Muhabura.  But the second meaning of Muhabura is the RPF-Inkotanyi radio.  It was also called Muhabura.  It was a Radio Muhabura.  The RPF-Inkotanyi radio.  "Muhabura" means "to save", you see.  So when the Interahamwe shouted these threats, it was a way of saying, "We are going to send you to your Radio Muhabura."  It meant, "We are going to kill you."  It is an abstract way of intimating that they were going to kill us. 

Q.
Now, do you remember when you moved into this house next to Palm Beach?  Do you remember the date? 

A.
If I count the days, I might remember perhaps, because we left Nyundo on the 10th of April, April 1994.  We spent two days in the hotel.  That is the 11th and the 12th of April.  No, the 10th and the 11th, which means that we left the hotel on the 12th in the evening to take up abode in this house that I have referred to. 

Q.
At the time when you took abode at this house, do you remember who was the préfet? 

A.
The préfet of Gisenyi at the time was called Banyurwabuka, B-A-N-Y-U-R-W-A-B-U-K-A.  I told you that in 1991 there was the préfet Bizimungu who was replaced by Habiyambere, 
H-A-B-E-Y-A-M-B-E-R-E, who was in turn replaced by Banyurwabuka, who was the interim préfet.  So when we got to the Meridien hotel, when we left that hotel for the house, it is at this time, I think it was Banyurwabuka who was the interim préfet. 

Q.
Yes.  And after Banyurwabuka as interim préfet of Gisenyi, did there come a time when a permanent préfet was appointed? 

A.
Yes, after Banyurwabuka, another préfet was appointed and he was called Charles Zilimwabagabo, Z-I-R-I-M-W-A-B-A-G-A-B-O, (sic) Zilimwabagabo, Charles.  He is a medical doctor. 

Q.
And from which party, if you know, did Charles Zilimwabagabo come from or Rafiliyetwe? 

A.
Charles Zilimwabagabo belonged to the Parti libéral, that is the same party as myself. 

Q.
And when was he appointed as préfet of Gisenyi? 

A.
I do not remember the exact date when he was appointed, but I do remember that he was installed in his functions on the 20th of April, I think, on the 20th of April 1994. 

Q.
And, how did you know about the installation of Zilimwabagabo? 

A.
Charles Zilimwabagabo was installed during the genocide by the government which had been set after the Abatabazi government.  Abatabazi is A-B-A-T-A-B-A-Z-I.  So the Abatabazi government, this government was set up after the death of President Habyarimana.  After Habyarimana's death, the government was formed by the soldiers.  They formed a civil government whose president was Sindikubwabo and the prime minister was Kambanda and many other ministers as well.  And it is this government that installed Charles Zilimwabagabo as préfet of Gisenyi.  So this was during the Abatabazi government.  

Charles Zilimwabagabo was installed on that day and we were in the house that I mentioned, the house near the Palm Beach hotel.  And to give you the details, the Palm Beach hotel had a hall wherein during the genocide, the major authorities met in the evenings, and these major authorities are the military and the political authorities, the préfets, military leaders, the heads of the gendarmerie and the Interahamwe as well.  Ngeze, Hassan, often came there.  Anatole Nsengiyumva used to come there often, and the préfet.  It meant that the house that we were in was just next to the 
Palm Beach hotel.  Between the two, that is between the hotel and the house, there is only a hedge, and it means that from the house where we were hiding with the bishop -- I told you that we were being protected by the two gendarmes -- it was easy for us to see what was being said and done in the hotel.  And the Palm Beach hotel is slightly higher than the house.  So the house has a yard with a fence and a lawn, and we used to go out and sit there sometimes, to chat, to smoke and also to monitor movements.  And sometimes the gendarmes went to the hotel, some priests also dared to go there, and they used to go there and they used to come back and tell us.  And from where we were, we could also hear everything.  Every evening we could see everything that was happening.  So on that day we learned that Charles Zilimwabagabo had been installed as préfet of Gisenyi.  We learnt of this.  

First, he was taken to the stadium to be shown to the people, and after that the military and political authorities came to have a drink, a cocktail, to mark the event.  There were several personalities amongst them, including Minister Mugenzi, Justin, who, at the time, was a minister of trade and who was also president of the PL, the Parti libéral.  He had first been the president of the PL and then after that, he became president of PL-Power, and Charles Zilimwabagabo, who also was a member of the 
PL-Power and as such, he came to introduce him to the people, and at that time, he made a memorable speech at the hotel, that is, on the terrace of the Palm Beach hotel.  He introduced Charles Zilimwabagabo and he mentioned the political situation at the time.  And to 
Charles Zilimwabagabo, he said he had a mission to represent to the government in Gisenyi préfecture and, in particular, to kill the Tutsis and that no Tutsi was to be left alive.  We heard this from the place where we were. 

Q.
Now, at what time of the day was this speech made? 

A.
Time of day and the exact time, I ask Madam Chairman to indulge with me because I am unable to give very specific time.  You know, at the time, concept of time and space for somebody who is living under fear is very difficult, but at least I am able to say that -- well, even the date is not exactly correct, exactly accurate.  But the time, it should have been between 12 and 1 p.m., but it was broad daylight.  It was not in the evening, it was not in the night, it was broad daylight. 

Q.
Did anyone else address that gathering other than Mr. Justin Mugenzi? 

A.
Charles Zilimwabagabo obviously, but for the others, I am not too sure.  I was more interested in those two persons because they belonged to the same political party as myself, and that is why I was interested.  Charles Zilimwabagabo was my schoolmate in Karakara.  He is a man I know very well.  He comes from Gisenyi just as myself.  We know each other very well.  And even during some political events we had the opportunity to meet and we were engaged in political activities together in Gisenyi.  And also when PL-Power was created, Charles Zilimwabagabo -- we saw each other.  I can tell you about the circumstances later on, but for now, I just wish to tell you that I was more interested in the two of them. 

Q.
Did you hear what Charles Zilimwabagabo said at that place, at Palm Beach? 

A.
A lot of details, no, but basically, he was accepting the mission that had been entrusted to him, and thanks to the authorities who appointed him. 

Q.
And can you be able to tell the Court who else was present at the terrace when this speech was made? 

A.
All the dignitaries of the system at the time, military dignitaries, political dignitaries, and there was Anatole Nsengiyumva, the colonel.  There was the commander of the gendarmerie, Major Biganiro.  Biganiro is B-I-G-A-N-I-R-O.  There was the leader of the Interahamwe, Ngarishari.  There was the former préfet, Banyurwabuka.  There was Hassan Ngeze, who was omnipresent, and all sorts of persons.  Those were the most important people. 

Q.
And what was the response or the reaction in short?  How was Mugenzi's speech met by the crowd there?

MR. MORRISON:
There was applause out there.  I heard a -- I am not sure my learned friend's interpretation of what the crowd is, but we heard five names so far. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Three is a crowd.  I think I am not --

MR. MORRISON:
Only when you are one of them, Paul.

MR. NG'ARUA:
I was not one of them. 
BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Can you tell us again, what was your answer?

A.
For more clarification regarding the crowd, Hôtel Palm Beach was not a stadium.  Hôtel Palm Beach is just a terrace.  It is a terrace and there is the external portion which opens on to the lake, and from the house where we were, we could see them.  And there wasn't a crowd but there were quite a few people who can be contained on the terrace.  And there were onlookers, Interahamwe, who were standing by.  So there were quite a few people to applaud. 

Q.
Now, you have said that at that time Mugenzi and Charles Zilimwabagabo were in PL-Power faction.  What did this PL-Power faction stand for?  What were their policies? 

A.
Thank you for the question.  I think I should explain how the Power faction was born and also the Power factions in other opposition parties.  

First of all, the opposition was a very strong movement against the Habyarimana government and which really shook the Habyarimana government and the MRND, together with the RPF.  The RPF was a military front, and the political opposition was within the country.  At a given time, the political parties, that is the MDR, PL, PSD and PDC, they came together, they forged an alliance, and I can't remember the exact name there.  It might have been Common Front.  It was something like a group for political change.  It was some kind of front, political front, and they used to hold their meetings together to map out their tactics and strategy vis-á-vis the Habyarimana government, and they organised demonstration in Kigali city, particularly.  They also held political rallies, huge political rallies, in various prèfectures at the stadium, except for Gisenyi, Ruhengeri, which were the preserve of Habyarimana and MRND.  

At a given point in time, the political force for change -- I think that was their name, they were so strong that Habyarimana got scared.  And these political parties proposed to enter into negotiations with RPF, and that is what took place eventually.  And then with the advent -- with the arrival of UNAMIR, the Arusha Negotiations, and as I told you yesterday, there was a lull, relative peace, relative calm.  And then suddenly, I am not in on the secrets of the politicians of the time to know how it all happened, but at one point in time, there was a clear break in the movement, and this movement for change did not have that unity, and the politicians started having different views.  

And then, at a given time, the demonstrations were no longer taking place because I told you that there were huge demonstrations where they were shouting, "Akazu." 
THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:


And this phrase that the witness says, I told you earlier that Akazu means the core around the president.  
THE WITNESS:

Akazu was two communes, Karago and Gicyiye, and it included the strongest person in the system and the strongest members were from those two communes.  So the opposition warned them to leave Kigali and leave the city free and to ensure the advent of freedom and change.  Then at the time that language completely stopped, and the politicians started speaking differently and more specifically, the PL, which I am a member of and whose chairman was Justin Mugenzi, they breaked, if I recall, at our meeting where we were proposing the appointment of members of parliament into the transitional government.  Mugenzi was chairman then and Landouald Ndasingwa, who was a Tutsi 
vice-chairman, they started speaking -- having different views.  The elections took place in all the préfectures and the chairman, Mr. Justin Mugenzi, was not happy with the results of the elections.  The elections then were not the grassroots members but it was the communal members of parliament.  

In my préfecture, I was a candidate of PL in the Gisenyi préfecture.  And it is September, I can't recall the exact date, when we were to go for elections, Charles Zilimwabagabo, whom I mentioned earlier on, who was not a member of the national committee of the PL but who comes from Gisenyi, came sometime before the elections.  He had a pick-up, Hilux pick-up, with the inscription “Ministry of Trade” which was the ministry of Justin Mugenzi.  He stayed there for two weeks, and I specifically remember that he came to my house to threaten me, and to tell me that, "Are you not ashamed to put yourself up as a candidate, being a Tutsi?"
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And he told me, that, "Let me suggest something to you, that we want to put up a Hutu candidate," and we had a very heated discussion, together with Mr. Zilimwabagabo,  who told me that, "You should be ashamed to want to represent a region that has a majority of Hutus in the national assembly," and I told him that, "Mr. Zilimwabagabo, that philosophy of ethnic balance, that philosophy of regional balance, belongs to the past."  I told him that I thought that belonged to the past, and that the Liberal Party today has -- believes in a philosophy which is contrary to the philosophy of the past, which is one of division.  And then, we -- we disagreed, we were in disagreement.  And this was during the period of preparation of elections, the run-up to elections. 

I told you earlier on that we knew each other very well because we had been schoolmates.  He told me that, "Okay.  You continue on your way but I'm going to have another solution." 

Now, on the day of elections, I think it was a Sunday -- I have no clear recollection of that -- they went to Gisenyi town.  We went to Gisenyi town, and the préfecture gave us a hall to organise the elections.  All the communal committees were present.  And Zilimwabagabo, I've told you earlier on that he was not a member of the national executive committee, he breezed into the hall where we were, with young men wearing Interahamwe uniform and CDR uniform, and they chased us out of the hall.  We started having heated discussions.  We told them that we cannot hold elections under such circumstances. 

Now, this is the very beginning -- I'm getting to the beginning of Hutu-Power in the parties.  And we told him that, "Under such circumstances, we cannot hold elections.  We are threatened and we are going to go somewhere else to hold the elections."  He said no.  I recall exactly what he said.  He said, "A spirit can save but the letter kills.”  We absolutely need to have a member of parliament but who should not be a Tutsi."  We left the meeting and we wrote a letter of protest to the chairman of the party, who was Justin Mugenzi.  And Zilimwabagabo remained in the hall.  He organised his elections with parallel committees which he had set up.  All those who were present there were members of parallel committees, parallel to ours. 

At that time, I went to Kigali to find Justin Mugenzi, the chairman of the party, to convey my protest to him.  I went to look for Ndasingwa.  I did not find him either.  I went to look for other members of the committee, and I told them that things are not well because what Mr. Zilimwabagabo did, and sent by Justin Mugenzi, since he had a pickup of the ministry, it was the proof that he was sent by Justin Mugenzi.  And that was the beginning of the division within the party.  And the reasons were as follows.  In the other préfectures, all the members of parliament who were appointed were virtually all Tutsis, and Mugenzi was not happy, and that was when he officially came out against -- came out to say that he was not in favour of the members of parliament who had been elected.  That is how it started.  I will tell you the rest later on. 

Q.
And --

MR. MORRISON:
I'm sorry to interrupt.  Could we have a date on those elections, please? 

THE WITNESS:
I have no clear recollection of the date, but it was in September, in any event. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Which year? 

A.
Ninety-three.

MR. MORRISON:
Sorry, is that September or December?

THE WITNESS:
September. 

JUDGE SHORT:
And you said Mugenzi was not happy with the elections.  So what did he do about the elections? 

THE WITNESS:
Madam President, I think there are further clarifications that I need to give.  The elections didn't take place on the same day everywhere, in all the préfectures.  The elections took place on different dates.  Each préfecture organised its own elections.  What was necessary was a member of PL candidate to be put up by -- as a candidate.  Now, the date in Gisenyi, I have no clear recollection of the date in Gisenyi, but -- because it was organised separately from all of the others.

JUDGE SHORT:
What I mean is after the results of these -- the various elections, what action, if any, was taken?  The results stand.  What happened? 

THE WITNESS:
The chairman of the party, Justin Mugenzi, as I said, he disowned the results or rejected the results of the elections, and that was -- that marked the beginning of the division within the party because he disagreed with the vice-chairman, Landouald Ndasingwa, and later on, I will tell you how the division within the party crystallised and how Justin Mugenzi and Charles Zilimwabagabo joined the MRND and Hutu-Power of the PSD. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Yes.  What was the consequence of Mr. Mugenzi's rejection of those elections of deputies? 

A.
The consequence is what I told you, the division and the radicalisation.  That is, Mugenzi left with members of the committee and members of the party who were Hutus.  They formed their faction under Justin Mugenzi, and the Tutsis, who were in majority in the party, joined us.  Landouald Ndasingwa, since there were two factions, a PL Mugenzi and a PL Ndasingwa.  And according from my recollection, I -- we asked the chairman to convene a congress so that we could discuss all that, and the chairman, Mugenzi, refused so we asked Landouald Ndasingwa to convene a congress to discuss these various issues, and also to remove Mugenzi from our -- his position as chairman of the party, and that is what was done.  And according to the regulations, a third of members of the party could request that a congress be held, which would be chaired by the 
vice-president of the party, which is what was done.  I have no clear recollection of the date or month, but I think it was in November.  We held a congress with the members of the party in the Meridien hotel, and we elected a new national company of the PL.  Mugenzi obviously protested against that congress and against the elections.  He rejected the existence of a new committee, and he also held his own congress to reject the new arrangements made by the party.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
What happened to the elected members of the party?  Where did they go?  To which side did they go? 

THE WITNESS:
Those members elected as members of parliament? 

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Yes. 

THE WITNESS:
Those elected as members of parliament, as well as those elected as members of the new committee, most of them were killed during the genocide.  But they were never sworn in because, in the interim, the Arusha Accords were thrown overboard because when people presented -- stood as candidates as PL or other opposition parties, when they went, they could not find a president, but later on, in the course of the genocide, most of them were killed.  Some of them survived but most of them were killed. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Mr. Murashi, after the division of the party with two congresses and two lists of deputies, what was the effect of that on the national politics between January 1994 and April 1994? 

A.
The first consequences were that the Mugenzi branch joined the MRND branch, that is the Interahamwe, and the CDR as well.  And they acted together.  And Mr. Mugenzi, who represented -- who was our chairman and whom we admired and whose charismatic character was well known, had completely changed.  He was no longer Mugenzi.  He started speaking the language of division, the Interahamwe language, the language of threats, saying that all Tutsis would be killed, that the Arusha Peace Accords were like a rotten dog.  That was his language.  And the consequences were that during the genocide, he had members of the PL -- members of the PL party who were Tutsis, he had them chased, and when he was appointed as Minister of the Abatabazi government, that is how come he installed Zilimwabagabo as préfet of Gisenyi, so he started going down a road that is completely different from ours.  He started conducting killings.

Q.
Yes.  Mr. Murashi, following the elections of PL that you spoke about, did any of those deputies from PL-Power or from the other side of PL take up seats in the national assembly? 

A.
Madam President, I think the national -- transitional national assembly which was provided for under the Arusha Accords never sat before the genocide, which means that there was no member of parliament of any party which was able to sit in that assembly before the genocide, because there was this obstacle born out of the creation of the Power trend.  This constituted a negative force which prevented the existence of this transitional national assembly.  This was total radicalisation of the system.

Q.
Now, were any explanations offered by your party as to why they could not take up positions in the transitional assembly? 

A.
I think that the party did not provide any explanations at all, but these parallel factions -- well, we were basically just having to deal with this situation, and the situation was getting more and more radical as the days went by, because the MRND party, having succeeded in splitting up the other parties into these Hutu-Power factions, it shifted the focus of national politics into this -- towards this new tendency, and it made -- it radicalised the situation.  And then setting up -- with the setting up of the RTLM station, members of the RPF, that is the candidates of the RPF who were living in the national assembly building premises, would normally report to the hall, the meeting hall of the national assembly, and the other parties who were not of the Hutu-Power faction, including ours, would also go to the same hall where they would wait for the president, and he would not appear.  And I think we did this on two or three occasions.  No explanation was given.  That was the situation, and we were having to deal with it, to live with it.  At that time, as I said, I'm not too certain -- well, it was like that, and then all of a sudden, the accident, the aircraft crash.  That's it.

Q.
Mr. Murashi, before we get to the accident or the crash of the aircraft, under what provision were these elections that you spoke of just now held? 

A.
The PL elections? 

Q.
Yes, please. 

A.
Well, if my memory serves me right, the Arusha Accords had provided for each national party -- well, it had to ensure that they had representation in the national assembly.  To this end, they had to come up with candidates, lists of members of parliament, and in the PL party, what we did is each préfecture would supply names of candidates.  So we had about 11 deputies who were to be represented in the national assembly, so each préfectural committee -- you see, the PL had a national executive committee which had préfectural branches, and these préfectural branches or offices had to come up with deputies.  So I had been designated by my national or préfectural office as a candidate, given that I was from Gisenyi, though most of them were not from Gisenyi.  So they then convened the préfectural offices of the PL party.  They were summoned to elect their candidates.  And that is, as I told you, that is when Zilimwabagabo came to sabotage the election with a parallel committee that he had composed, and that was mainly composed of CDR members and MRND members.  I think -- I believe I've answered your question.

Q.
Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Murashi.  Just a follow-up to that.  Tell the Court what was the provision in the -- in the event that one of the national parties could not be able to bring or produce deputies to form the government?  What was the consequence of that? 

A.
That's a hypothetical question.  I cannot -- you are saying if a party was unable to produce -- could you elaborate? 

Q.
Yes.  I'll make myself clear.  PL was supposed to provide 11 deputies to the transitional national assembly.  What was the effect of that failure, or consequence of that failure? 

JUDGE SHORT:
The question is not very clear. 

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes.  I don't want my friends on the other side to rise up and -- they know exactly what I want, but I'm sure they are very happy about this situation that I am in. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Mr. Murashi --

JUDGE SHORT:
They take delight in your difficulty.

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, absolutely.

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Mr. Murashi, can you tell the Court, was there a time limit within which a transitional government had to be set up following the elections that you say were about, your own words, around September? 

A.
There is perhaps one detail that I have not given that may shed some light.  You see, the PL party did not collapse -- or did not fail in -- did not fail to satisfy the obligation to present deputies.  And in Gisenyi, Charles Zilimwabagabo -- and only in Gisenyi, Charles Zilimwabagabo did come to disrupt the elections, but he did carry out elections.  He came up with his own candidate and then president -- Chairman Mugenzi rejected this choice.  But Ndasingwa had organised a congress.  He had set up a parallel election.  But Justin Mugenzi himself did not produce his own deputy, because he had accepted Zilimwabagabo's candidate in the Gisenyi election.  And so he became the de facto president, and he dealt with the authorities.  But Zilimwabagabo simply came in and proceeded with the elections.  All he did was to swerve the focus on the Hutu-power faction.  And the reason is that the PL party was a majority Tutsi party, but the Hutu-Power elements were quite few in the PL party so that the PL proceeded with these same deputies, and they awaited -- they waited to be sworn in, only that that swearing-in never did occur.

Q.
Yes.  In January -- in February 1994, who was in power in Kigali? 

A.
In 1994? 

Q.
Yes.  January, around February. 

A.
The governing party in Kigali -- do you mean the president of the country? 

Q.
Yes.  Who was the president of the country? 

A.
It was President Habyarimana.

Q.
In what capacity was he governing at that time? 

A.
I think I've explained the situation.  Earlier on, I did provide some explanations.  I said that there had been some radicalisation.  There was a trend to reject or to seek to prevent the establishment of the broad-based national transitional assembly; that is, to share power with the other parties, such as MDR, PSD, PL.  So this trend was a prevailing trend at the time, and we were not aware of the side that Habyarimana stood on.  We knew he was president of the country but we could see his position was weakened, very much so, and at that point, Kangura depicted him or portrayed him as a priest at that time and that is when they began to predict his death.  That is when Bagosora was in Arusha and was now predicting the apocalypse for the Tutsis, as he slammed the door on the Arusha Accords.  So the Hutu extremism was very much out in the open and was the focus of attention.  Thus, President Habyarimana was no longer in control.  He was afraid.  Even on the radio, as he spoke, we could feel him trembling.  He was shaking.  So although he was the president, he had control over nothing.  It was the radical elements who were controlled by the Akazu group, who would not have Habyarimana as their leader because they knew he was not committed to the genocide.  You would have the Kangura newspaper, RTLM, the Hutu-Power factions, and the opposition had shifted to the hard-liners and no longer wanted Habyarimana to continue as leader.  And the -- and it is the RPF who was waiting in the wings.  And we were all wondering, with this relative lull, what would happen.  But President Habyarimana -- or at any rate, he no longer controlled the situation.  His death was being predicted in newspapers and they would say -- they were saying that the Tutsis -- that would be the end for the Tutsis after his death.  So there was an atmosphere of uncertainty, and which was the spark for the genocide. 

Q.
Tell the Court, as far as your knowledge goes, did the broad-based transitional government take root?  

A.
It was following the Arusha agreements, because the peace accord, the Arusha Peace Accord, had been signed by President Habyarimana, the RPF president, Colonel Alexis Kanyarengwe.  These were the signatories.  And the radical Hutu elements were dissatisfied.  They were saying that the establishment of the broad-based transitional government would spell the end for the Hutus.  So their dissatisfaction -- that was the source of their dissatisfaction; that is, the Arusha Accords.

Q.
Yes.  And how many seats had been allocated to PL party under the Arusha Accord in the 

broad-based transitional government?  Do you remember? 

A.
The number of seats in parliament was 11.  I told you already.

Q.
Yes, yes.  What about ministerial seats? 

A.
I do not recall that.

Q.
Yes.  Now, these 11 seats, were they taken by PL? 

A.
Before the genocide? 

Q.
Yes.  Say, in February 1994. 

A.
But I said earlier that the swearing-in ceremony never took place, given the events I've just described.  So the swearing-in ceremony never took place.  This was the period of uncertainty and every time the deputies, the elected deputies either from the RPF, PL, MDR, whenever they would report to the hall, the meeting room, the swearing-in ceremony could not take place or never did take place.

Q.
Was the PL party in a position to take up those seats in the event a swearing ceremony had taken place in February? 

A.
As far as I know, there was no parallel PL group.  There was just the one.  And although Mugenzi had -- well, in any case, these deputies were finally admitted.  So there was no other group.

Q.
Who presented their nomination, do you remember? 

A.
No.  But you see, once I was eliminated, I no longer took an interest.  I had protested on several occasions, and I did not side with either Landouald or Mugenzi, and as I told you that Zilimwabagabo's protégé was even admitted.  So at one point, I no longer took an interest.

Q.
Tell the Court how did this division in PL party crystallise, and how did they gravitate?  What was the policies upon which the PL party gravitated? 

A.
I think the divisions and radicalisation were due to -- not just in the PL but within the other political parties as well.  At one point, and I think that Minister Nayinzira said it, he was president of PDC, the Christian Democratic Party, at one point there was a RPF attack, a very -- a major attack, and they advanced, they got very close to Kigali.  So some leaders, some political party leaders, began to say to themselves, "Well, the RPF is here to take us by force."  But the RPF did not intend to take Kigali.  This was just a ploy to push the negotiations forward, because at the time they had fallen into a rut. 

Then, Habyarimana and the Hutu radical movement took advantage of the situation, to encourage certain sentiments, specifically the -- to appeal to the materialist instincts.  And Habyarimana, who was a great friend of President Mobutu, who was a very good manipulator, was advised to buy the politicians.  So even the most -- the most hardened politicians were sensitive to money.  So although we don't have eye witness accounts, it is being said that Habyarimana did give money to certain politicians, including Karamira, Frodouald Karamira, who was a member of the MDR.  He managed to corrupt him.  He paid him 30 million Rwandan francs.  He managed to corrupt Justin Mugenzi with 30 million francs.  This is what is being said in political circles.  Mr. Justin Mugenzi, who had serious financial problems, it is being said, he had a factory that was not running well and who was a great opponent of Habyarimana's and who had on several occasions criticised him, he was pressured very 

-- he was actually threatened.  In fact, his brother had been assassinated.  And then finally he gave in and acted in the PL party.  So these -- these are the underlying causes of this radical shift in the PL.

Q.
Can you tell the Court when the 30 million francs were given to Mr. Justin Mugenzi?  Was it before the break of the PL or after? 

A.
It was before the split, because, first of all, there was a problem in terms of political space.  Justin Mugenzi had been appointed -- he had been given the post of minister of trade but had refused that and he did not want to work with Tutsis.  And from what I learned later, politicians in Kigali -- I was living in Gisenyi at the time.  We were told that this was a condition or a way of becoming minister.  And this money was a part of the deal.

Q.
Witness, after the installation of Charles Zilimwabagabo in Gisenyi, how long did you stay there?  After that installation at Palm Beach or the cocktail at Palm Beach? 

A.
I do not really remember, but I remained a few days, perhaps a week.  I don't recall, because Charles Zilimwabagabo is a person I -- who knew me very well, and he would come to see the bishop with Anatole Nsengiyumva.  I would have to hide very far away.  And the bishop pleaded with him to let us go, and he refused.  He said, "I cannot give official permission," but he said, "Since you were my teacher, if he can use the route which passes by the volcanic rocks, well, that's fine."  And the bishop came to tell us.  "You, the young ones, those of you who are still young, can leave.  And I am an old man and choose to die here."  And I think three or four days after the installation, I was in the company of some priests, and we were under pressure to leave.  And I wanted to leave as soon as possible.  I did not want to stay longer.  And I think it could be between four and six days.

Q.
Mr. Murashi, can you tell the Court, during the period after the installation of Zilimwabagabo, did the killings in Gisenyi continue or did they abate? 

A.
The killings continued because the people who had left Nyundo all died, but a long time afterwards, a month at least, I believe.  And Charles Zilimwabagabo used even more pernicious means.  First of all, he appeased them.  He held meetings where he would pacify the people, encouraging them to leave their hiding places.  He held a meeting at the stadium, claiming that it was for the sake of peace, saying people would no longer be killed.  He opened up the banks.  Traffic started moving normally.  No one remained in their hiding places.  And I remember some naive persons who heard those messages were killed subsequently to leaving their hiding places.  And I took advantage of that time, rather, to obtain some money.  I did this -- I did not have much money on me.  I recall that the money that I had had with me was left at the Nyundo cathedral, but I had some money at the bank in Gisenyi not far from the house I was hiding, a commercial bank, so since the banks were open for business, I suggested to a priest in Nyundo, and I said to him, "I have a blank cheque with me.  Could you not help me to find a trader who could go and cash this cheque for me? " And he told me that that was not possible because the bearer of the cheque has to come up with his own cheque.  So one of the priests devised a strategy.  He asked us to ask a gendarme to grab one of us, as if they were taking us to be killed.  So the gendarmes agreed to this scheme.  So they took me one day, we went to the bank.  I withdrew 5,000 francs and then I went --  

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
100,000 francs, corrects the interpreter.
THE WITNESS:


And went back.  I think I gave some amount to the gendarme, I think 80,000 francs.  And then after that, about a month later, I found out that Nyundo, where we had left several people, people who were free, moving freely, but after the water supply and the electricity supply was cut off, and food supplies as well, they spent actually about a month with no food.  And on the 1st of May, Charles Zilimwabagabo, I was told by the young people who managed to escape and found me, Charles Zilimwabagabo went there, did reconnaissance, spoke to them, and after he departed, the Interahamwe came and killed them off. 

They were more -- I can answer your question in further detail, if you want. 

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Thank you, Witness. 

Tell the Court who told you about Charles Zilimwabagabo's participation at Nyundo? 

A.
It was the survivors of the -- survivors of the Nyundo killing.  There was a young man called Rutabana, R-U-T-A-B-A-N-A, Rutabana.  He is a professor in the Butare university today.  At the time, he was secondary school teacher.  So he escaped the Nyundo killings and he told me about it.  There is another one called Kayijuka, K-A-Y-I-J-U-K-A, and he is in the army today.  He's a soldier.  These are the two who escaped the killings and who told me about how the killings took place.

Q.
Can you tell the Court under what circumstances Rutabana told you about the killings at Nyundo and the participation of Charles Zilimwabagabo?

A.
As I have just said, Rutabana was a young man from Nyundo whom I knew very well, who was with me in the cathedral, because I spent two days in the cathedral where we fought with the Interahamwe.  We were locked up in the cathedral.  We were defending ourselves using -- by throwing stones at the Interahamwe, for two days.  On the third day, the gendarmes came.  They stopped the battle.  It was a tactic.  And they said, "The priests can go to Gisenyi.  The rest will stay in Nyundo."  And that is how I was able to slip in.  Since my wife was dead, my children were dead, I was like a priest.  I pretended to be a priest, with the complicity of the gendarmes.  And I went as a priest.  But all the other ones stayed in Nyundo, all of those who were not priests.  I told you that there were teachers, there were other persons, the lay people who lived in that area.  There were also Bagogwe Tutsi who had been there for about a year.  So it was about a thousand persons, more or less.  So Rutabana was able to escape.  So he lived through the period where people just stayed amongst each -- with each other and died of hunger.  So they let these people die of hunger for a certain period of time, and when they found that these people were able to manage to, say, get water from the river, and they used to find raw bananas and they used to make fires, roast the bananas and eat them.  So they said to themselves, "These people are going to survive.  We have to kill them.  And perhaps afterwards some other Inyenzi brothers will come and deliver them."  So the order was given for them to be killed. 
So Rutabana is a young man who, with Kayijuka, was able to escape and they found us or they met us in Goma.  That it was in the month of June.  No, it was in the month of May, May 1994.  So Rutabana, of course, came to find me where I was because I was one of his elders, and he came and told me what had happened to my colleagues, and he told me about the atmosphere he had left back in Nyundo.  And so he told me, "As soon as you left, we were left to our own devices and then we began to manage to leave.  And then at certain times, Zilimwabagabo came.  It was at the end of the month of April.  He visited us.  And then he went round and he found a teacher who was called Joseph, a guy who had been in school with him.  And he said, 'You too, Joseph, you're here,' and Joseph said to him, 'Yes, M. Le Préfet, that's life.'  Then Zilimwabagabo said to him, ‘Listen, we are going to try and help you.  We are going to bring you supplies.  We are going to bring you blankets, don't you worry.  Don't worry, we are here; we are going to protect you.'  And then, when he went, he left the next day, the Interahamwe came and decimated them."  Rutabana was able to escape.  So he told me all of this when he met me in Goma.  That's to answer your question. 

Q.
Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Murashi.  Now, earlier on in your testimony, you said that Hassan Ngeze could not have had the mental acumen to depict Habyarimana as a priest, and in that context, you talked about the Akazu.  Who were these Akazu people? 

A.
But if you remember, correctly, I believe I said -- I described this in the beginning.  I explained to you the circumstances under which the Kangura newspaper was created.  I told you that in essence, Ngeze, Hassan, was an idle boy in Gisenyi.  He was, first of all, a cobbler; after that he was a bus conductor; which means in short that he didn't have work, and he lived off his family in Gisenyi.  And then I told you that Ngeze, Hassan, was a distributor of the Kanguka newspaper, and Kanguka was an opposition newspaper, which seriously criticised the Habyarimana regime.  And I told you that suddenly Ngeze changed.  How did he change?  Well, he came into contact or he established contact with Colonel Serubuga, Colonel Buregeya.  He was seen.  I saw them together myself in Gisenyi.  Because it was a time when war was talked about as being impending.  In Gisenyi, people used to go to find out what was going on.  So Ngeze, Hassan, I used to see him often.  I saw him in several places.  I met him in several places.  I met him at the bus park.  I met him on the road.  He was an affable man, very nice, and he used to tell us that the Habyarimana regime would collapse.  And that the opposition -- and he said that there would be a war that would end this regime.  And then all of a sudden, he changed.  He began to say very different things.  He was saying, for example, that the Tutsi would attack Rwanda, and that Muagikigari would come back, these idiots, these imbeciles.  They said that, "How was the president going to govern the country?”  They said, “It looks as if he's not even married.  Can you marry at the age of 80?”  And Ngeze talked about all of this.  And then all of a sudden he changed, and then Ngeze was seen with Serubuga.  And then the very next day, he had money, he had a motorcycle, he had a kiosk for distributing his newspapers, and this newspaper was no longer Kanguka, it was Kangura and the name was an imitation of Kanguka to create a diversion.  That's why it was called Kangura.  You understand?  Because “kanguka” in Kinyarwanda means “wake up”; “kangura” means “wake the others.”  So it was then said that -- and it was known that Ngeze had found money to set up the newspaper and he didn't have the intellectual acumen to write one single article.  The articles, he signed them, but he couldn't write them.  So this newspaper was an Akazu newspaper, that is Colonel Serubuga, Buregeya , Bonaventure Buregeya, Théoneste Bagosora, Z, that's Zigiranyirazo -- that's how he was known, “Z” -- that is the entourage of President Habiyarimana.  So Kangura was a newspaper that was to convey the ideas of the Akazu.  It was not Hassan Ngeze's newspaper.  But quite simply, Hassan Ngeze was proud to have gained such social status and he was able to talk with people at a higher level, and all of a sudden he became a politician.  He was an amateur in politics. 

(Pages 53 to 63 by Mark Porter)
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BY MR. NG'ARUA:
Q.
What does the term “Akazu” actually mean?

A.
Akazu, that is -- the first meaning is a hut, a small hut; not a hut as you know it, but a small one.  The second meaning of the term, shall we say the extended political meaning, Akazu is oligarchy; that is, an oligarchy, which means a group of persons as small as an Akazu, who come from the same family, from the same region, who have blood relations, who have intermarried, who are neighbours, and who, once they achieve power, have common interests that they can defend unconditionally.  That is Akazu; this oligarchy in power, that is, of people who come -- a small group of people who come from the same region who have joint interests or common interests to defend unconditionally, and Akazu applied to the Habyarimana system -- was an oligarchy.  Beforehand, I described to you how the country went from division to division; from the nation to the region; from the region to the subregion; from the préfecture to a commune.  It was from the -- it started at the departure of the Belgians who had an ethnic power-based system.  After Habyarimana -- first one run by the Hutu.  After the coup d'état of Habyarimana, the ethnic divisions became regional divisions and, finally -- préfectural divisions and, finally, communal divisions.  And, in the final analysis, there was a small group of people who came from one region -- or, rather, one commune or one parish; that is, of people who had studied once in the same parish because the priests were more influential at the time and the parish administration in the diocese was stronger than the political administration.  So people were identified by their parishes at the outset, so people who had studied in a parish of Rambura, that is ‑‑ R‑A‑M‑B‑U‑R‑A ‑‑ it is these people who were the Akazu.  These were part of the oligarchy of Rambura, Giciye commune and Karago commune.  These are neighbouring communes.  They are separated by Giciye river.  And if you go there one day, you will find that Habyarimana -- his residence -- Bagosora, Buregeya, Serubuga, Sagatwa, Zigiranyirazo, all come from one small place; that is, the Akazu.  But of course there were tentacles which created dependence.  That was to their benefit.  They had their clients.  That's it.

Q.
You have mentioned Mr. Bagosora as member of that Akazu.  Did you know him?  What was his position in 1994?

A.
I know Bagosora very well.  I knew him well before.  I cannot go into detail as to how I knew him, but Bagosora, Colonel Bagosora, was a very influential member of the Akazu, and at a certain time he was a director of the president of the republic's cabinet; that is, General Habyarimana.  And, as I have just said, he was an influential member of Akazu in the sense that he was one of the founding members of the Kangura newspaper.  He is amongst the major authors of the system, the radicalist system of Hutu Power.  General Bagosora -- or Colonel Bagosora is among the assassins of President Habyarimana and, after the assassination of Habyarimana, Colonel Bagosora practically took over power.  Institutional planning had been made to that effect because there was a president of the constitutional court; there was a prime minister; and they were assassinated directly after the plane crash, and Bagosora practically took over power.  He was the head.  He was the leader in Kigali.  He was the strongman of Kigali at the time.  And even General Dallaire says this in his book because he said he handed over -- he shook hands with the devil.  Bagosora was the one who set up the Abatabazi government.

Q.
And in 1994 what was his position in power -- or in government?

A.
I have just said this; he was a director of the president's cabinet.

Q.
Did he always stay in that office of the director of cabinet?  What was his position around the 6th of April 1994?

A.
I think that he was retired.  I don't remember correctly, but I think he was on retirement.  I think that this did not suit him.  He wanted to stay in power, so he adopted extremism as a way of staying in power.

Q.
Do you remember who was the chef du cabinet in the ministry of -- in the ministry in 1994, April?

A.
No, I'm afraid I don't.  I might know but, right now, I really can't remember.

Q.
That's all right.  Now, how could such a person such as Bagosora -- what is your assessment of the situation where you saw Kangura depicting the president as weak and also associating that newspaper to this clique as being close to the president?

A.
Obviously, as I told you -- or, apparently, the extremist trend was afraid that it was losing steam because of the Arusha Accords, because of the UNAMIR presence, because of the international community.  So there was certain fear amongst extremist circles that they were going to have to share, because since 1959, with the coming to power of President Habyarimana, there was a deep‑rooted fear of this sort of ideology -- that is, Hutu-based ideology -- of sharing power with the Rwandans.  This was a deep-rooted fear that had been there for a long time -- had been there for a long time.

So Habyarimana, being the leader, a president of the republic, he was not in a good position to officially refuse -- or refuse to adopt this new political trend.  He was not in a good position to do so, which is why he was perceived to be weak by his entourage.  So he, himself, was between a rock and a hard place, as it were.  He was an extremist, a Hutu extremist, but as leader he could not present himself as such.  And he was hesitant, and it is this hesitation that caused -- extremist group around him sought to eliminate him.  And it began to present him as a timid man who was only fit to be a priest, a yes-man, who can only say mass, who could only wear a cassock, and I have told you this before.

From that time his political career was over; he was politically dead.  It was said that he was not able to manage the country and, at some point, sometimes he shook.  When he had to make speeches he was shaking, and everybody wondered what was going on.  Habyarimana who was so eloquent, so convincing, all of a sudden, he stuttered like a child who is afraid to lie to his mother and who is afraid of being found out if he lies.  And so Habyarimana was politically dead.  And it is at this time that Kangura predicted his death.  In the month of March it was written black and white, March 1994, "Habyarimana will die, and that was the end -- that will be the end of everything".  It was written in black and white in Kangura.  Everybody can read that.  And it's at that time that, as I told you, at the beginning of April, the Interahamwe reappeared in the neighbourhoods.  They came to my neighbourhood.  They stood in front of my house, apparently inoffensively.  They didn't say anything to me, but they were sinister.

They were expecting an event.  And then on the 6th in the evening the crash took place.  So the process leading to the assassination of Habyarimana began with the article on the cassock.  And then there were predictions of his death, and then the presence of the Interahamwe who were waiting for an event that would spark off the killings.  So even after the crash, there was general fear inside the country; people wondered what would come next.  And in the morning there was a press release on the radio: everybody should stay in their homes.  That was supreme army command saying that, you see.  So after that, where I was, the atmosphere was sinister.  There was absolutely nobody around.  Everybody was dead with fear.  They were look locked up in their houses.  We began to move around again at 10 a.m., but there was no traffic on the roads.  There was nothing.  And people were wondering what was going to happen, but this explains that the killings were not spontaneous; they were organised.  Then Anatole Nsengiyumva, the colonel, organised a rally in Gisenyi, a rally of the Interahamwe, and then a truck came from Rambura which is Habyarimana's parish, and it was said, "The priest in Rambura, the vicar, and all the others, who were all Tutsis, have been killed; what are you waiting for?  Kill, too."  And that is how the tension began.

This means that I may have gone into too much detail, but you did ask me about the atmosphere that existed during this time when Habyarimana was weakened.  Perhaps I may have given a little more than I was asked for.  I am sorry for that.

Q.
Mr. Murashi, after the depiction of the president as a weak man, do you recollect of any rallies that were held to prove otherwise?

A.
I think at a certain time President Habyarimana organised a rally in Ruhengeri.  It was a way of explaining -- I don't remember exactly; I think it was in January or February -- I ask the President of the court to forgive me regard to lack of accuracy with the gates -- dates -- he -- who held a memorable rally which was broadcast and it targeted the Interahamwe.  Laughing he said, "Interahamwe, they say you are my friends.  You are, indeed, my friends.  I shall buy you suits, and I tell you we shall come out and when we do come out it will be fantastic".  So he wanted to be sure he was ahead of the Interahamwe.  He said he would come out or descend, that is come out from their homes, from their offices, to go out to kill.  That is the context in Kinyarwanda.  If you say, "we shall descend" or "we shall come out", it means we shall go where there are enemies.  That's what it means.

Q.
“When he descended”, you -- did he say?

A.
That's what I'm telling you in the context of Kinyarwanda.  "We shall descend", and this is a popular rally.  This is addressed to people who are ready to kill.  "We shall descend together"; it means that, “I shall come with you; I shall help you also, and you shall not be alone”.  It means that we shall go out to kill.  They had gone to Ruhengeri to descend because the supposed enemies, the people of the north, Hutu or Tutsi, are -- the people of the south and the centre -- Gitarama, Butare, Kibuye, Kibungo; all of that -- were considered as enemies.  In most of the minds of the people of the north of Gisenyi and Ruhengeri, the people of these regions are all considered to be Tutsi, so it was a way of saying we shall get rid of these people.  That's what it means.

Q.
Did you attend that rally, yourself?

A.
No, I'm sorry.  I never attended any Interahamwe rally.  I was not an Interahamwe.  I have never been one, but this speech was broadcast.  It was broadcast.  It was national.  I heard it with my own ears, but I wasn't there; I couldn't be there.

Q.
How -- in what language was it broadcast?

A.
It was in Kinyarwanda.  It was the national language.  As I told you, tuzamanuka -- tuzamanuka is T‑U‑Z‑A‑M‑A‑N‑U‑K‑A -- we shall descend; that's in Kinyarwanda.

First he said, "I shall buy you clothes, and you shall look good and then we shall descend".  That's how he said it in Kinyarwanda.

Q.
Thank you, Witness.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Mr. Witness, you said it was broadcast on radio.  Which radio?  You heard it on radio.
THE WITNESS:
The national radio.  There's only one radio station.  When I talk about broadcast, I refer to Radio Rwanda, the national radio.

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Did the president touch on other matters of national interest, things that were happening at that time?

A.
I don't seem to understand your question.

Q.
Yes, the question is: did he talk about other things of national importance during that meeting?

A.
No, I have no memory of that.  What I was interested in was that kind of threat against us.  The others were of no interest to me.  Now, in relation to that question, which you put to me, if President Habyarimana sometimes came out with denials to indicate that he was capable, that he was strong -- he formed football team on the Rebero mountain.  Rebero is a hill that overlooks Kigali, the city of Kigali.  It's within Kigali, but a bit uphill.  He had a hotel called Rebero.  He also had a football team and he praised the team.  He said that he, himself, was footballer, a very good footballer, and nobody could dribble him, and call him kinani.  Kinani is K-I-N-A-N-I.  That means invincible.  So he was trying to counter all those things that were being said about him to project the image of somebody who is invincible; that is, when he was a footballer, he was very strong; he was invincible.  It was -- he will refer to football or to the opponent; that is, break the leg of the opponent who was in his way. 

Q.
Did he speak of matters that were happening in Arusha?

A.
Thank you for this question.  Thank you for the question.  It was in Ruhengeri that he said that the Arusha Accords were bits of paper, bits of paper.  Ibipapuro means -- that is, I-B-I-P-A-P-U-R-O.  Ibipapuro means pieces of paper which were insignificant.

Q.
To your mind, what did that mean?

A.
Pieces of paper meant that the content is insignificant.  It is to say that, even if I sign them, they were just pieces of paper and they did not bind him.  So he was saying the same thing as Bagosora who promised the apocalypse.  Habyarimana also promised the apocalypse in the same vein, but was too late because he had been sold out.

Q.
Now, after the death of the president, did you know what Anatole Nsengiyumva was doing with respect to the death of the president?

A.
I mentioned it a while ago, and I did say that after the death of President Habyarimana there was total panic across the country.  Some people were wondering if -- with the death of Habyarimana whether the country was going to continue living, whether the international community would come and save people, whether the extremist faction will now take over power.  Those were the various scenarios.  And while people were wondering about these things -- I told you that I was home when I heard about the plane crash in the morning, during the six o'clock news.  I woke my children up and told them that the president was dead.  My children's reaction was that we are finished.  That is what they told me; we are finished.  And I told them, no, we are not finished because there is the international community; there is UNAMIR; we are not going to die.  They told me, "No, we had been persecuted for a very long time and we believe this is the end".  We remained there waiting until about 10 a.m.  We remained in the neighbourhood of the house.  And then a colleague teacher sent me a message through one of his daughters -- that one of Semahane, whom I mentioned this morning, that told him, "Dear friend, leave your house because there will be no security in the houses".  He, therefore, told me that, "You see, you need to flee and hide where you normally hide in the seminary".  So we left, together with the children.

I told you this was around Nyundo.  It was -- there was dead silence, sinister silence, a silence to instil fear.  There was no movement.  We went to the seminary, and around 1700 hours, I phone up Gisenyi to know what the situation was like because people had come and told us that some priests of Rambura had been killed.  I phoned up the priest Augustin Nagabera (sic) -- Ntagara is N‑A‑G‑R‑A (sic) -- Augustin.  Now, I asked him how the situation was in Gisenyi.  And he told me, "My dear Isaie" -- those were his words -- "it is serious.  There were killings which have already been committed.  Your colleague, Semucyo, had been killed this morning.  Your cousin, Solange, has been seriously wounded.  He -- she has no telephone and we are unable to go and assist him and help him."   He further told me that, "This morning, around 10 a.m., there was a rally which was held at Gisenyi motor park by colonel" --

THE ENGLISH INTERPRETER:
A colonel whose name the interpret did not get; sorry about that.

BY MR. NG'ARUA:

Q.
Can you repeat the name of the colonel?

A.
Colonel Nsengiyumva; N-S-E-N-G-I-Y-U-M-V-A, Nsengiyumva, Anatole.  Father Augustin continued and told me that our father is dead -- reference to President Habyarimana.  They often referred to him as the father, our father.  He told us that he is dead and he was killed by the Tutsi, he was killed by the Tutsi.  "Now, I'm asking you for one thing: he should not die alone.  We should look for the pillow" -- that was said in Kinyarwanda, meaning that so that he can -- he can rest in peace; that is, to find people who will act as pillows for him.  He went on to say, "Go out and kill all the Tutsi wherever they are.  If you need reinforcement, I'm there for that; I will give you reinforcement."  And Father Augustin told me that, soon after that, Semyuco was killed because when he heard the news he started fleeing towards Goma, because Gisenyi and Goma -- there is a distance of about two, three kilometres.

He fled, running, but since he lived close to the motor park, he was seen by the Interahamwe and they were around that area going round the town.  They chased him and caught him after about one kilometre, and killed him.  But Father Augustin didn't give me all these details; I got all these details much later.  On the telephone he did not have the time to tell me all these things, but he said Anatole Nsengiyumva organised a rally and ordered the beginning of the killings, saying that we should give the father of the nation a pillow to lie on.

Q.
In Kinyarwanda culture how does this pillow assist somebody to sleep or to rest?  Can you explain further about this metaphor of the pillow, of giving somebody a pillow?

A.
Well, I don't know how to say this.  Even for the living, I think when you want to rest on your bed you always need a pillow to sleep well.  Now, when you bury someone in order to honour him, he is given clothes; he is dressed properly; and then he is given a pillow to ensure that he rests well.

Q.
Now, before I surrender you to the Defence, there is an agreement that we need to get into with the Defence counsel, with respect to certain matters that we did not want to get into here.

MR. NG’ARUA:
And if the Defence can turn to the statement of 1998, I will be proposing that we hand in certain portions of that statement as an exhibit, instead of having Mr. Murashi go through details that are disturbing.  I am proposing that --

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Can you identify the portion?

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes, My Lord, page 8, in particular, and all the way to page -- the whole --
JUDGE SHORT:
The whole of page 8.

MR. NG'ARUA:
The whole of page 8 and the whole of page 9, if the Defence does not object to that.
MADAM PRESIDENT:
Pages 8 and 9.

MR. NG'ARUA:
Yes.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Only these two-pages?

MR. NG'ARUA:
I think those are the most disturbing, and the one that does not touch upon the -- these are matters that probably could be admitted by counsel.

MR. MORRISON:
I think a simpler solution to the problem may be found in the statement of the 28th of August 1996.  On page 2 of that statement, the K-number being K003918, there is a subparagraph starting, "The events in Nyundo".
JUDGE SHORT:
Mr. Morrison, can you kindly repeat the K-number again?
MR. MORRISON:
Of course, My Lord.  It's K0031918.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
You are referring to page 2?

MR. MORRISON:
That's page 2 of the statement, August '96, yes.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Which one are you referring to?

MR. MORRISON:
The first subparagraph is entitled, "The events in Nyundo", in bold type, and the text starts, "The radio communiqué".
JUDGE SHORT:
Got it.

MR. MORRISON:
It seems to be that if one looks at that paragraph and the next paragraph beginning "The same evening", go over the page to the paragraph beginning "On the morning of the 10th April", and finishing "... was killed on the 1st of May 1994" -- it seems to me that if the Defence are asked to accept the factual allegations there relating to this witness's children and wife, then I don't think that will cause any difficulty at all, and it saves, at it were, admitting a plethora of other matters which may or may not turn out to have been wise to admit.  But if we simply say that, as far as those paragraphs are concerned, where they refer to matters concerning his children and his wife, that they can be admitted.  Now, I don't ask that we do that immediately.  But, as soon as we rise, I undertake to convene with all members of the Defence.  If that can be done, then we can do it officially first thing tomorrow morning with the concurrence of my learned friend for the Prosecutor.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
In which paragraph did he speak of the death of the children?

MR. MORRISON:
In the paragraph beginning "The events in Nyundo", starting "Radio communiqué".  If -- Madam President, if you go right to the end of that paragraph and look at last two sentences.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
Yes.

MR. MORRISON:
And then if one goes over the page to the paragraph beginning "On the morning of the 10th of April", starting the third sentence, "At this point", that deals with another tragedy.  And I think we can devise a way at the conclusion of the case to deal with all of those matters without causing this witness undue distress.
MR. NG'ARUA:
Madam President, I agree with my learned friend, that that will serve our purpose, and to thank them for the sensitivity with which they have handled this matter, and I hope other Trial Chambers and trial teams can adopt the same kind of approach to sensitive matters.  Thank you very much.

Now, My Lords, I think we have just about six or seven minutes before the official knock-off time for this trial.  I would request that we stand down this witness and, as soon as the agreement between myself and the Defence has been reached, then I can surrender the witness to them with an agreement in my pocket.

MADAM PRESIDENT:
So we adjourn and resume tomorrow morning at 9 a.m.
(Court adjourned at 1652H)
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